
CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE

TIME: 10.30 am

DATE: Thursday 18 November 2021

VENUE: Virtual meeting - WebEx and YouTube

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies for absence Simon Harper

2.  Public Questions 
To answer any written public questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Committee.  The closing date 
and time for receipt of questions is 10.00am on Tuesday, 16 
November 2021.  

Simon Harper

3.  Members' Questions 
To answer any written members’ questions.  The closing date and 
time for the receipt of questions is 10.00am on Thursday, 16 
November  2021.

Simon Harper

4.  Contract procedure rules (Pages 1 - 34)
To consider the attached report. Ian Mawdsley

5.  Finance procedure rules (Pages 35 - 66)
To consider the attached report. Paul Blacker

MEMBERSHIP –Cllr John Bloxsom, Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, Cllr Colin Hay, 
Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Paul Hodgkinson, Cllr Dr Andrew Miller, 
Cllr David Norman MBE, Cllr Philip Robinson and Cllr Lynden Stowe





 

 

CONTRACT PROCEDURES RULES 

Constitution Committee – 18 November 2021 

1. These Contract Procedure Rules (the “Rules”) are the Contracting Authority’s 

(the “Council”) rules for the buying, renting and leasing of Goods, Services 

and Works and apply to all Relevant Contracts made by the Council. They 

were formally known as Contract Standing Orders. The aim of these Rules is 

to assist Officers in achieving best practice and lawful procurement, to ensure 

that the Council fulfils its duty of delivering Best Value for its council tax 

payers and excellent outcomes for its service users.  

2.  The Rules also provide a basis for fair competition by providing transparent 

and auditable procedures to protect the Council’s reputation from any 

suggestion of dishonesty or corruption.  

3. These Rules apply to all Officers of the Council or any companies or 

organisations within the Council’s control. They are part of the Council’s 

Constitution and therefore Officers have a duty to ensure they have fully 

understood them and have sufficient authority prior to commencing any 

procurement or contracting activity 

4. The last review took place in 2013 and it was felt timely to review what were 

previously called Contract Standing Orders to update them both for inflation 

and any changes in legislation or best practice. A full record of the changes 

made is attached at Annex A. 

5. The Government proposes to repeal the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, 

the Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016 and the Concession Contracts 

Regulations and produce a single set of regulations covering all contracts. 

Procurement rules for healthcare services will be developed separately in 

consultation with the DHSC. This will have a significant impact on the Rules. 

6.  A new Procurement Bill was announced in the Queen’s speech and is 

expected shortly. It is likely to be towards the end of 2022 before we see the 

changes in the bill beginning to take effect.  For that reason we will continue to 

keep the Contract Procedure Rules under review, and will bring further 

recommendations to the Committee in light of changes arising from the bill. In 

the meantime, this report is seeking the committee’s support for the proposed 

changes.   

7. Recommendation:  That the committee recommends that the County Council 

agrees the attached Contract Procedure Rules for incorporation into the 

Council’s Constitution. 

Report author - Ian Mawdsley, Assistant Director (Strategic Procurement) 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Annex A 

Table of Key Updates and Changes to the 2015 Contract Standing Orders as at 

29 September 2021 

Please note the CSO reference numbers marry with the Contract Standing 

Orders with Updated Changes 29 Sept 2021 (‘track change’) document.  The 

ICPRs V1.9 (the ‘clean’ document) has different numbers from section 7 

(formerly entitled ‘Grants’), as this section has been removed. Where relevant, 

the equivalent reference numbers for V1.9 are listed in brackets in blue) 

CSO No. Details of Update/Change 

Name change 

and reason 

for CSO 

update 

Contract Standing Orders (CSOs) have been updated and re-

named as Interim Contract Procedure Rules (ICPRs), and when 

adopted by the Council will be termed ‘Contract Procedure 

Rules’ (CPRs). The name change to ‘Contract Procedure Rules’ 

was requested by the Executive Director of Corporate Services 

(EDCS).  The term ICPRs has been used to differentiate between 

the updated 2015 CSOs and the new draft Enhanced Contract 

Procedure Rules (ECPRs) – see below.  

  

It is 6 years since the CSOs were reviewed.  As a result of key 

legislative and policy area changes, to address common issues 

that have since arisen, to include areas relating to procurement 

raised by the EDCS, and to add clarity in some areas, the ICPRs 

have been reviewed and updated as an interim measure to meet 

these requirements while the Procurement Transformation Plan 

work is undertaken, and until the results of the reform of UK public 

procurement legislation are published.  The ECPRs, in 

development since last year, are more extensive than the ICPRs, 

and have already been benchmarked with the sector, and include 

standardisation of terms and proposed revisions to tendering and 

quote thresholds. The ICPRs incorporate thresholds proposed by 

the EDCS. Some areas already include requirements detailed in 

the Spring 2021 Green Paper consultation of the reform of UK 

public procurement legislation.  

 

Until adopted, the ECPRs will remain as a live draft enabling the 

legislation reform changes to be incorporated once published; this 

also applies to the Procurement Toolkit (also in development) as 

the ECPRs have been designed to operate in tandem with the 

Procurement Toolkit.  

Name 

Changes 

The term “Head of Commercial Services” has been amended to 

“Assistant Director of Strategic Procurement” and the “Head of 

Page 2



 

 

CSO No. Details of Update/Change 

Legal Services” has been amended to “Assistant Director of Legal 

Services”. Also, the addition of the Director of Policy, Performance 

and Governance has been included at the request of the EDCS.  

These changes have been reflected throughout. 

Legislation 

Change 

References to EU legislation have been changed to “relevant 

thresholds prescribed by UK public procurement legislation”; this 

reflects the current 4 procurement laws and negates the need to 

identify each one every time legislation is referenced.  The 

changes took effect as a result of Brexit wef 1 January 2021.  

2.4 Scope Text added to clarify that subject to the Council Scheme for 

Financing Maintained Schools, the CPRs apply to Council 

Maintained Schools. 

3.5 

Authorised 

Officer 

Re-ordered with 3.6. The term “Authorised Officer” has been 

clarified by linking to the key tasks that relate to undertaking 

procurement and contract management.   Reference to receiving 

delegated authority under the Scheme of Delegation to undertake 

these tasks has been retained. 

3.7 

Contract 

Management 

The section has been updated to include a reference to “contract 

management” to highlight to Directors that when they assign 

responsibilities to Officers to undertake procurements and/or 

contract management, these Officers have the necessary skills, 

competencies and knowledge to undertake them. This includes 

attendance at relevant internal and external training courses such 

as procurement, finance, risk, business continuity and GDPR. 

4.1  

Best Value 

Definition of Best Value has been added. 

5 

Exemptions  

Addition of the requirement for Direct Contract Awards over 

£25,000 to be authorised by the Director of Policy, Performance 

and Governance after considering a written report by an 

appropriate Director. The maintaining of a register of these direct 

awards and the annual reporting of them to the Audit and 

Governance Committee is also provided for. 

7  

Grants 

Removal of the section. Grants are now included in the Finance 

Procedures.   

8  

(7 in V1.9)  

Framework 

Agreements 

and Dynamic 

Purchasing 

Systems  

 

Framework agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems 

(DPSs) are commonly in use in the public sector, often established 

by central buying organisations for other named public bodies to 

procure from.  Before carrying out a procurement process, 

emphasis has been made on Authorised Officers assessing 

whether any existing frameworks, DPSs or contracts (established 

either by central buying organisations or the council) are a suitable 

way to procure as a quicker and compliant option where Best 

Page 3



 

 

CSO No. Details of Update/Change 

 Value can be demonstrated.   

9.1 & 9.2 

(8.1&8.2 in 

V1.9) 

 

Estimated 

Total 

Contract 

Value 

 

 

 

9.5 a – e 

(8.5 a - e in 

V1.9) 

 

9.8  

(8.8 in V1.9) 

Direct 

Contract 

Awards 

The rules for calculating the estimated total value of a contract, 

including contract extensions, lots, and direct contract awards has 

been added to comply with UK public procurement legislation. To 

mitigate risk, specific mention has been made of circumstances 

which contravene procurement legislation e.g. if attempts are 

made to circumvent the law by under estimating contract value, 

disaggregation of requirements or splitting contracts to avoid 

application of the law.  

 

Revised Thresholds proposed 

 

This details the circumstances, permitted in law relating to direct 

contract awards.  

10. 

(9 in V1.9) 

Localism 

 

 

Addition of the provision of localism in procurements where 

Authorised Officers may use ‘reasonable endeavours’ to obtain a 

quote from a Gloucestershire based supplier. This provision has 

been added in recognition of the Council’s efforts to promote 

social value as part of its Economic Recovery Plan and to support 

Gloucestershire based SMEs. 

   

The requirement to follow guidance issued by the Assistant 

Director of Strategic Procurement has been removed as the 

requirement already exists in CPR 17. 

11.1 – 11.8 

Framework 

Agreements 

and DPSs 

(10.1-10.8 in 

V1.9) 

Removal of Select Lists which are no longer in use. With 

increasing use of framework agreements and DPSs as options to 

procure, the key legal requirements applicable to their use have 

been included to reflect this. 

12.1 Schools 

Standards & 

Framework 

Act 1998 

(11.1 in V1.9) 

Addition of text to clarify the requirements applicable to Section 48 

of the School Standards & Framework Act 1998, and the 

thresholds for obtaining quotes for Council Maintained Schools.   

Page 4



 

 

CSO No. Details of Update/Change 

13. Tendering 

Exercises 

13.4d 

Receiving 

Tenders & 

Late Tenders 

(12 & 12.4d in 

V1.9) 

The requirements detailed in “CSO 14 Tendering Exercises” have 

been amalgamated into CPR 13 to provide the requirements when 

tendering in one place. 

   The criteria for addressing areas of minor non-compliance in 

submitted tenders have been updated.  The circumstances for 

accepting late tenders have also been updated, and the roles of 

Principal Lawyer and Legal Services Business Partner included 

with authority to make decisions regarding accepting late tenders.  

Addition of these roles manages an identified resilience risk by 

having more than one individual authorised to act on behalf of the 

Assistant Director of Legal Services in these circumstances.  

14. 

Contracts 

Register 

(13 in V1.9) 

The requirement to publish all purchases exceeding £5,000 ex 

VAT on Contracts Register to comply with the Local Government 

Transparency Code 2015 has been added. 

15.7 

Liquidated 

Damages 

(14.7 in V 1.9) 

Reference to liquidated damages has been removed in agreement 

with Legal Services as this is more appropriate to sit within 

contract clauses.   

15.8 & 15.9 

Contract 

Sealing 

(14.8 & 14.9 

in V1.9) 

Inclusion of the contract sealing threshold proposed by the 

Monitoring Officer.   

 

Contributors:   

Helen Foster, Annie Carter, Ian Mawdsley (Strategic Procurement Service) and Will 

Felgate (Legal Services) 

29 September 2021 

Page 5



1 
 

Clean version without tracked changes 

Interim Contract Procedure Rules (ICPRs) V1.9   

29th September 2021 

Application .............................................................................................................................................. 2 

1. Background ................................................................................................................................. 2 

2. Scope ........................................................................................................................................... 2 

3. Accountability & Responsibility .................................................................................................. 3 

4. Basic Principles ............................................................................................................................ 4 

5. Exemptions to these Contract Procedure Rules ......................................................................... 4 

6. Requirements to consult the Director of Policy, Performance and Governance and the 

Assistant Director of Legal Services .................................................................................................... 4 

7. Procuring via Frameworks, Collaborative Procurements, and Dynamic Purchasing Systems .... 5 

The Contracting Process ......................................................................................................................... 6 

8. Competition Requirements ......................................................................................................... 6 

9. Localism....................................................................................................................................... 8 

10. Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems ................................................... 8 

11. The Quotation Process ............................................................................................................ 9 

12. Tendering Exercises ................................................................................................................ 9 

13. Contracts Register ................................................................................................................. 12 

14. Conditions of Contract & Contract Formalities ..................................................................... 12 

Other Requirements ............................................................................................................................. 13 

15. Prevention of Corruption & Declaration of Interests ........................................................... 13 

16. Procurement Guidance ......................................................................................................... 14 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



2 
 

Application 

 

1.  Background 

 
1.1 The purpose of these Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) is to ensure that all 

Council contracts are demonstrably made: 
 a) in compliance with the law and best practice; 
 b) maximising fairness, transparency and competition; 
 c) to improve quality and value for money;  
 d) to enable the Council to develop and deliver its Commercial Strategy; and 
 e) in compliance with the Council’s Financial Regulations.  

 

2. Scope 

 
2.1  These Contract Procedure Rules apply to all relevant contracts made 

(including all orders placed) by, for or on behalf of the Council,  or where the 
Council is acting on behalf of other public bodies. Relevant contracts include 
arrangements for: 
a)   the supply or disposal of goods 
b)   the hire, rental or lease of goods or equipment 
c)   the provision of works and the supply of works materials 
d)   the provision of services, including consultancy services 
e)   the granting of works concessions or services concessions 
f)    the selection of sub-contractors by the Council, where these are 

nominated under a main/prime contract. 
 

2.2  Relevant contracts include contracts between the Council and any other 
contracting party, including: 
a)   Other public bodies, including other local authorities  
b)   Voluntary and community sector organisations acting as suppliers to the 
      Council 
c)   Private sector suppliers to the Council. 
 

2.3  Relevant contracts do not include: 
a)   agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land, pre-

existing property leases, and licenses; or 
b)   the award of grants by the Council 
The rules governing these are covered by separate procedural guidelines 
approved (from time to time) by the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a 
Cabinet Member.  

  
2.4 These Contract Procedure Rules apply to Council Maintained Schools except 

where the Council Scheme for Financing Schools (from time to time under 
Section 48 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998) applies.  

 
 

 

Page 7



3 
 

3. Accountability & Responsibility 

 
3.1 These Contract Procedure Rules apply to all Officers of the Council. Officers 

must ensure that any agents, consultants and contractual partners acting as 
procurement agents on behalf of the Council also comply with these Contract 
Procedure Rules. 
 

3.2  It is a disciplinary offence for Officers not to comply with these Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

 
3.3  Directors must ensure that their staff comply with these Contract Procedure 

Rules. 
 
3.4  An Officer must not seek or accept technical advice on the preparation of a 

request for quotation or an Invitation to Tender from any party which may 
have a commercial interest in the procurement if this may prejudice the equal 
treatment of all potential suppliers or distort competition. 
 

3.5  Directors must ensure that appropriate Officers (“Authorised Officers”) have 
received delegated authority under the Council’s Scheme of Delegation which 
authorises them to:  
a)   make orders on behalf of the Council for the supply of goods, services 
and works; 
b)   award contracts on behalf of the Council for the supply of goods, services 
and works;   
c)   pay invoices received from suppliers in respect of goods, services and 
works provided to or on behalf of the Council;  
d)   approve tender and quotation procedures and all related documentation; 
e)    approve contract terms and conditions; 
f)    receive, retain and open tender submissions (CPR 12.4); 
g) manage contracts in accordance with the Council’s Contract Management 

Framework from time to time. 
 

 
3.6  Authorised Officers may award contracts and place orders and requisitions 

that comply with these Contract Procedure Rules provided that: 
a)   the financial values and commitments are within approved budgetary      

estimates and within their delegated responsibility; 
b)   they are within the Council’s legal powers; 
c)   where the contract involves the transfer of Council staff, or former Council 

  staff who have previously been the subject of an outsourcing of service,  
the Authorised Officer is acting in accordance the Direction made by the 
Secretary of State under section 102 of the Local Government Act 2003 
(pension provision) or any replacement. 

 
3.7  Directors must ensure that Authorised Officers have the necessary skills, 

competencies, and knowledge to undertake procurement and/or contract 
management related duties of the scope, risk and complexity assigned to 
them. This should include attendance on appropriate relevant training 

Page 8



4 
 

courses, both internal and external, on areas such as procurement, finance, 
risk, business continuity and GDPR. 
 

4. Basic Principles 

 
4.1  All purchasing and disposal activities must: 

a) achieve Best Value for public money spent in accordance with the duty on 
local authorities under Part I of the Local Government Act 1999 to secure 
continuous improvement in the way in which functions are exercised, having 
regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness as 
implemented by the Council 
b)   support the Council’s corporate aims and policies 
c)   be consistent with the highest standards of integrity 
d)   ensure fairness and transparency in allocating public contracts 
e)   comply with all legal requirements 
f)    produce and maintain adequate records and a clear audit trail 
g)   be consistent with any procedures or guidance set out in accounting 
instructions and any procedures or guidance issued by the Assistant Director 
of Strategic Procurement.  
 

5. Exemptions to these Contract Procedure Rules 

 
5.1 No Direct Contract Awards (where competition is not undertaken) over 

£25,000 ex VAT can be made unless authorised in writing by the Director of 
Policy, Performance and Governance after considering a written report by the 
appropriate Director. 

 
5.2 A register of all Direct Contract Awards over £25,000 ex VAT will be 

maintained by the Director of Policy, Performance and Governance and will 
be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee on an annual basis. 

 
5.3 These Contract Procedure Rules do not apply where the Council Scheme for 

Financing Schools (from time to time under Section 48 of the School 
Standards and Framework Act 1998) applies. 

 

6. Requirements to consult the Director of Policy, Performance and 

Governance and the Assistant Director of Legal Services  

 
CPR 6 identifies occasions where the Contract Procedure Rules create a 
mandatory obligation to consult with the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance and the Assistant Director of Legal Services.  

 
6.1  Subject to CPR 12.4, all quotations, expressions of interest and tenders must 

be received by the date and time given in the original advertisement.  
 

Page 9



5 
 

6.2  Authorised Officers must obtain the agreement of the Director of Policy, 
Performance and Governance before using any third party to conduct any 
procurement exercise on the Council’s behalf. 

 
6.3 Authorised Officers shall consult with the Assistant Director of Legal Services 

immediately they become aware that any significant dispute or claim may 
arise in relation to a contract or procurement exercise or during the life of a 
contract. 

 
6.4 Minor contract variations that have regard to small administrative changes can 

be undertaken by an Authorised Officer such as contact name changes, 
address changes, small service or specification changes. All major contract 
variations (i.e. anything beyond a minor change) that have regard to changes 
in price, term or terms and conditions must be referred to the Director of 
Policy, Performance and Governance.  
       

 

7. Procuring via Frameworks, Collaborative Procurements, and Dynamic 

Purchasing Systems  

 
7.1  Before carrying out a procurement process, Authorised Officers shall establish 

whether there is a suitable framework agreement, dynamic purchasing system 
or existing contract to which the Council is a party that provides a mechanism 
for ordering goods, services and works and, if so, consider whether the use of 
such framework agreement, dynamic purchasing system or existing contract 
is appropriate and adheres to the principles of Best Value.   

 
7.2 Without prejudice to CPR 7.3, where a collaborative contract, dynamic 

purchasing system or framework agreement has been let by another public 
authority or central buying organisation through competition, and in 
accordance with its own contract procedure rules and legal requirements, 
such contractual agreement shall be deemed to comply with the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

 
7.3  Before using any collaborative contract, an Authorised Officer must first verify 

that: 
a)   the contract was procured in accordance with all relevant UK law; 
      and 
b)   the contract was advertised appropriately, and specifically that the scope 

of the advert allowed the contract’s use by the Council; and 
c)   the contract has been let on appropriate conditions of contract; and 
d)   the contract offers, or is reasonably likely to offer, better overall value for 
      money, or benefit to the Council, than the Council could achieve through 
      independent procurement. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



6 
 

The Contracting Process 

8. Competition Requirements  

Goods, Services and /or Works 

 
8.1     Calculating the Estimated Total Contract Value of any contract for goods, 

services and/or works (the “Estimated Total Contract Value”). The Estimated 
Total Contract Value shall be calculated as follows: 
 
a) the Estimated Total Contract Value excluding VAT shall include the 

estimated value of any options (including extension options), lots or 
renewals under the relevant contract; 

 
b) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a framework agreement or dynamic 

purchasing system shall be the total value, exclusive of VAT, of all of the 
call-off contracts that may be awarded under that framework agreement or 
dynamic purchasing system; and 

 

c) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a works concession contract or a 
services concession contract shall be the total estimated turnover of the 
supplier generated over the duration of the contract, net of VAT, in 
consideration of the works and services which are the object of a works 
concession contract or (as appropriate) a services concession contract 
and for the supplies incidental to such works and services.  

 
8.2 The rules when calculating the Estimated Total Contract Value are: 
 

a) purchases of the same or similar type of goods, services and/or works 
must be aggregated and the Estimated Total Contract Value shall not be 
calculated with the intention of excluding it from the scope of these 
Contract Procedure Rules; 

 
b) where there is a common requirement for goods, services and/or works 

across the Council, the Estimated Total Contract Value shall be the 
aggregate of all purchases across the whole Council in respect of such 
goods, services and/or works; 

 
c) a contract for goods, services and/or works shall not be sub-divided or its 

Estimated Total Contract Value artificially under estimated or 
disaggregated into two or more separate contracts with the intention of 
avoiding the scope of these Contract Procedure Rules and/or relevant 
legislation; and 

 
d) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a contract for goods, services and/or 

works shall be the value as determined when the advertisement in respect 
of that contract is issued or when the Council commences its procurement 
procedure, in respect thereof, whichever is earlier; 

      

Page 11



7 
 

e) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a works concession contract or a 
services concession contract shall be determined when the advertisement 
is issued or when the Council commences its procurement procedure, 
whichever is earlier unless it is a Regulated Procurement, in which case 
the Estimated Total Contract Value shall be calculated in accordance with 
the provisions of The Concession Contracts Regulations 2016. 

 

8.3 All contracts for goods, services and/or works that have an Estimated Total 

Contract Value equal to or in excess of the relevant  threshold prescribed by 

UK public procurement legislation and the provisions of these Contract 

Procedure Rules shall be procured in accordance with such legislation.  

 
8.4 All contracts for goods, services, and/or works that have an Estimated Total 

Contract Value that is less than the relevant threshold prescribed by UK public 
procurement legislation shall be procured in accordance with the provisions of 
these Contract Procedure Rules. 
 

8.5 Contracts for goods and/or services that have an Estimated Total Contract 
Value ex VAT: 
a) less than £5,000 the Authorised Officer should obtain at least one 

quotation from a suitable supplier (email is sufficient) or on the basis of a 
pre-quoted price (such as in a supplier’s catalogue); 

b) at £5,000 and over but less than £25,000 may be procured after obtaining 
a single written quotation  which must be obtained  using the Council’s e-
procurement system. 

c) at £25,000 and over but less than £100,000 may be procured after 
obtaining three written quotations which must be obtained using the 
Council’s e-procurement system;  

d) at £100,000 and over but less than the relevant threshold prescribed by 

UK public procurement legislation must be procured after having 

undertaken a competitive tender process using the Council’s e-

procurement system; 

e) which is equal to or exceeds  the  relevant threshold prescribed by UK 
public procurement legislation must be procured after having undertaken 
a competitive tender process using the Council’s e-procurement system. 
 

8.6 Contracts for works that have an Estimated Total Contract Value: 
a) less than £250,000 may be procured after obtaining three written 
quotations which must be obtained using the Council’s e-procurement system. 
 
b) at £250,000 and up to the relevant  threshold prescribed by UK public 
procurement legislation may be procured after having undertaken a 
competitive tender procurement process using the council’s e-procurement 
system. 
 
c) which is equal to or exceeds the  relevant threshold prescribed by UK 
public procurement legislation must be procured after having undertaken a 

Page 12



8 
 

competitive  tender procurement process using the Council’s e-procurement 
system. 

 
8.7 Contract extensions may only be considered if the relevant contract contains 

an extension option or if there are legitimate grounds for an extension as 
provided by UK public procurement legislation.  Any such extension must be 
authorised in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 
 

8.8 A Direct Contract Award must only be considered as a last resort when all 
other procurement strategies have been excluded and provided such contract 
award would not give rise to a breach of UK public procurement law. A Direct 
Contract Award whose Estimated Total Contract Value ex VAT is less than 
the relevant threshold prescribed by UK public procurement law is permissible 
provided that: 
 
a) it has been determined through market analysis/engagement that only one 

particular supplier is capable of providing the required goods, services or 
works; or 

b) for reasons of extreme urgency brought about by events unforeseeable by 
the Council there is insufficient time to conduct a competitive procurement 
process (provided the reason for such urgency is not attributable to the 
Council); or 

c) in limited cases, to protect intellectual property rights that an incumbent 
supplier holds.  

   

9. Localism  

 
9.1 When seeking quotes for goods and services with an Estimated Total 

Contract Value ex VAT at £25,000 and over, Authorised Officers should use 
reasonable endeavours to seek at least one quote from a Gloucestershire 
based supplier. For goods and services less than £25,000, Authorised 
Officers may wish to consider obtaining two quotes one of which is from a 
Gloucestershire based supplier.  

 

10. Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems  

 
10.1 Framework agreements may be procured by the Council, or by other public 

bodies or public sector buying consortia as arrangements under which named 
public bodies (including the Council) may award call-off contracts.  
 

10.2  The procurement by the Council of a new framework agreement must be in 
accordance with any guidance issued by the Assistant Director of Strategic 
Procurement.  

 
10.3 The term of a framework agreement must not exceed 4 years.  

 
10.4  Dynamic purchasing systems (DPSs) may be procured by the Council, or by 

other public bodies, or public sector buying consortia, as arrangements under 

Page 13



9 
 

which named public bodies (including the Council) may award call-off 
contracts.   

 
10.5  A DPS must be operated as a completely electronic process and requires a 

new competitive procurement procedure to be carried out before awarding 
any call-off contract under it. Direct contract awards under a DPS are not 
permissible.  

 
10.6 Additional suppliers may be admitted to a DPS throughout its term. 
 
10.7 The term of a DPS shall be a period that is proportionate to the nature of the 

goods, services or works to be procured under it. 
 
10.8 The procurement by the Council of a new DPS must be in accordance with 

any guidance issued by the Assistant Director of Strategic Procurement.  
 

11. The Quotation Process 

 
11.1    Save in respect of quotations sought by or on behalf of any Council 

Maintained School in respect of goods and/or services (in relation to which the 
Council Scheme for Financing Maintained Schools shall apply), the quotation 
process described in this CPR 11 and CPRs 8.5(a), 8.5(b) and 8.6(a) shall be 
complied with when: 

 
a) the Estimated Total Contract Value for goods and/or services is less than 
£100,000, or 
b) the Estimated Total Contract Value for works is £250,000 or less. 

 
11.2 Save in respect of quotations sought by the Council in respect of contracts for 

goods and/or services of the value described in CPR 8.5(a), requests for a 
quotation must be carried out using the Council’s e-procurement system in 
accordance with guidance from the Assistant Director of Strategic 
Procurement.  

 

12. Tendering Exercises 

 
12.1  All competitive tender procurement exercises must be conducted 

electronically through the Council’s e-procurement system unless the use of 
an alternative process has been previously approved in writing by the Director 
of Policy, Performance and Governance. 
 

12.2  Receiving Expressions of Interest 
All expressions of interest must be received by the date and time given in     
the original advertisement. An Authorised Officer may consider exceptions to 
this CPR in situations where the late submission is genuinely outside the 
control of the supplier concerned, but only with the agreement of the Assistant 
Director of Legal Services. 

 

Page 14



10 
 

12.3 Issuing Invitations to Tender 
a)   Where a tendering process involves a process of qualification and 

selection before the award phase, an Authorised Officer shall only issue 
an invitation to tender to those suppliers that have met the required 
selection criteria, including any minimum standards set. Suppliers may be 
shortlisted to be invited to tender on the basis of marks awarded against 
the selection criteria 

 
b) An Authorised Officer shall ensure that an invitation to tender is based on 

a robust procurement strategy based on model instructions for tendering 
approved by the Assistant Director of Strategic Procurement.  

    
 c)   Suppliers shall be allowed sufficient time to complete their tenders, taking 

  into account the complexity of the requirement and the contract, and the    
time required for them to prepare their response. A minimum of ten 
working days must be allowed from the date on which the invitation was 
sent. 

 
d)   All suppliers being invited to tender by the Council must be issued with the 

same information at the same time and subject to the same conditions. 
Any clarification, supplementary information, or changes to the content or 
detail of the invitation, must be given on the same basis. 

 
e)  All communications with the suppliers must be through the Council’s e-

procurement system.  
 

12.4  Receiving Tenders 
a)  Where in accordance with CPR 12.1 tenders are to be submitted 
electronically, Authorised Officers shall ensure that they are stored securely in 
the Council’s e-procurement system and remain un-opened until the specified 
date and time, after which they shall be opened by an officer who has been 
authorised to do so by the Assistant Director of Legal Services in accordance 
with a procedure agreed by the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance. 
 
b)  If any tenderer has not followed the instructions issued within an invitation 
to tender detailing how their tenders should be delivered, packaged, marked 
and referenced, such tenders must normally be excluded from further 
participation in the tender process to which such instructions related. 
However, in exceptional circumstances, the Assistant Director of Legal 
Services may permit an occurrence of non-minor compliance with such 
instructions provided that the principle of equal treatment of tenderers and the 
integrity and confidentiality of the tendering process would not be infringed.  
 
 
c)  Any tender that does not comply with the instructions set out in the 
relevant invitation to tender (save for incidences of minor non-compliance of 
the type described in CPR 12.4(b), shall be rejected and returned to the 
tendering supplier together with an explanation for its rejection. 
 

Page 15



11 
 

d) Any tender received by the Council after the published tender submission 
deadline shall not be opened or considered unless, in the opinion of Assistant 
Director of Legal Services or Principal Lawyer or Legal Services Business 
Partner, considering relevant evidence provided by the Authorised Officer, the 
failure to meet the deadline was due to: 
(i) the Council’s fault; 
(ii) an act of God, flood, drought, earthquake or other natural disaster; 
(iii) epidemic or pandemic; 
(iv) terrorist attack, civil war, civil commotion or riots, war, threat of or 
preparation for war, armed conflict, imposition of sanctions, embargo, or 
breaking off of diplomatic relations; 
(v) nuclear, chemical or biological contamination or sonic boom; 
(vi) any law or action by government; 
(vii) the collapse of buildings, fire, explosion or accident; or  
(viii) an interruption or failure of utility service in circumstances which are 
beyond the control of the tenderer (but only in circumstances where such 
tender was submitted electronically). 
 
  

12.5   Award 
a)   Any contract(s) advertised via the Council’s e-procurement system shall 

be awarded to the supplier(s) whose tender(s) is/are the most 
economically advantageous, (assessed from the point of view of the 
Council) as determined with reference to the published award criteria. 

 
b)   Such contract awards may be made only on the basis of:  

 i) price; 
ii)  cost; or 
iii) best price-quality ratio 

 
c)   If awarding a contract on the basis of the ‘best price-quality ratio’, an 

Authorised Officer shall apply criteria linked to the subject matter of the 
contract.  

 
d)    If, having completed a tender evaluation exercise, a tenderer has been 

identified by the Council as offering the most economically advantageous 
tender, a contract may be awarded to them.  

 
d) When awarding any contract for goods, services or works whose       

aggregate value exceeds the relevant  threshold prescribed under the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015, an Authorised Officer shall adhere to  
a minimum ten (10) day Standstill Period before entering into such contract 
and issue a Standstill Notice at the outset of such period to all tenderers 
and candidates which explains the Council’s full reasons for its award  
decision, and which also includes details of the characteristics and relative 
advantages of the successful tender. 

 
 

Page 16



12 
 

13. Contracts Register 

 
13.1 In accordance with The Local Government Transparency Code 2015, 

Authorised Officers must: 
 
“Publish details of any contract awards, commissioned activity, purchase 
order, framework agreement and any other legally enforceable agreement 
with a value that exceeds £5,000 ex VAT” 

 
which must comply with the requirements set out in any guidance issued by 
the Director of Policy, Performance and Governance. 
 

14.  Conditions of Contract & Contract Formalities 

 
14.1 All contracts must be formally concluded in writing before the supply, service 

or work begins. 
 
14. 2  Contracts shall be written in plain language and shall adopt either: 

a)   conditions of contract produced by professional bodies and agreed by the 
      Assistant Director of Legal Services; or  
b)   conditions of contract developed by or agreed by the Assistant Director of 

Legal Services for specific types of procurement or specific procurement 
projects; or 

c)   conditions of contract within collaborative contracts let by other public 
      contracting authorities; or 
d)   exceptionally, and where unavoidable, conditions of contract requested by 
      suppliers; but only where the use of these conditions has been  
      agreed in advance by the Assistant Director of Legal Services. 
 

14.3  CPRs 14.1 and 14.2 do not apply to low value, one-off retail 
purchases where a purchasing card is used. 
 

14.4  All contracts, irrespective of value, shall as a minimum clearly specify: 
a)   a full description of what is to be supplied (i.e. the works, materials,     

services, matters or things to be furnished, received or completed) 
b)   the quantities to be provided 
c)   the provisions for payment (i.e. the price to be paid and when) 
d)   the time(s) and location(s) for delivery or performance 
e)   the provisions for the Council to terminate the contract 
f)    the provisions for indemnity and insurance for service contracts 
g)   the contract term or, as appropriate, the required timeframe for delivering 

milestone deliverables 
h) such other conditions and terms as may be agreed between the parties 

which shall include, where relevant, a reference to continuous 
improvement in accordance with the Best Value legislation.  

 
14.5 Where contracts are awarded which involve the transfer of Council staff, or of 

former Council staff who were previously the subject of an outsourcing of 
service, they shall include provisions to ensure that the relevant regulations 

Page 17



13 
 

are complied with and that the Council is appropriately indemnified. Where the 
Council is a third party to any transfer, the contract shall in addition ensure 
that the Council has access to staff and employee information on request 

 
14.6  Every relevant contract must provide for the Council to cancel the contract 

and recover any resulting losses if the supplier or his or her employees or 
agents, with or without his or her knowledge: 
a) does, or has done, anything improper to influence the Council to give him 

or her the contract; 
b) commits an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or Section 117(2) of the 

Local Government Act 1972. 
  
14.7 In appropriate cases, after consultation with the Assistant Director of Legal 

Services, the supplier shall be required to give sufficient security for the due 
performance of his or her contract. 

 
14.8  Where a relevant contract value exceeds:  

a) £100,000 in total but is less than £500,000 it must be signed by at least 
two Officers of the Council, being the relevant Authorised Officer and one 
other Officer above salary scale point 33; or  

b) £500,000 in total it shall be executed under the common seal of the 
Council.   

 
14.9  Unless otherwise agreed by the Assistant Director of Legal Services, a contract 

must be executed under the common seal of the Council  where: 
a)   the Council  wishes to reserve the right to enforce the contract more than 
six years after its end; or 
b) there is any doubt as to whether valid consideration is being created 

under the contract. 
 

14.10  Contract sealing shall be carried out by the Assistant Director of Legal 
Services or those persons who have been given authority to do so from time 
to time.  

Other Requirements 

 

15. Prevention of Corruption & Declaration of Interests 

 
15.1  Officers shall comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees and 

the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement and Strategy. In particular: 
a)   no Officer shall use or be seen to use their position to obtain any personal     

or private benefit (including benefit accruing to connected third parties) 
from any contract entered into by the Council; 

b)   Officers’ attention is drawn to the provisions of the Code of Conduct 
relating to the separation of roles during tendering. 

 
15.2  With regards to any contract that has been proposed or entered into by the 

Council, Officers must disclose in writing to their Director any instances: 

Page 18



14 
 

a)   where they have any relationship with a supplier; or 
b)   where they have any personal interest (financial or non-financial) which     

could reasonably be considered to conflict with the Council’s interests. 
 

16. Procurement Guidance 

 
16.1    In support of these Contract Procedure Rules, the Assistant Director of 

Strategic Procurement may issue guidance, procedures and standard 
documents as Procurement Guidance. Authorised Officers shall comply with 
such guidance when undertaking procurement activities and contract 
management. 
 

Page 19



1 
 

Contract Standing Orders 2015  

Updates and Changes to the 2015 Contract Standing Orders are shown in track 

changes below and reflected in the Interim Contract Procedure Rules (ICPRs) 

V1.9 

29 September 2021 

Table of Contents 
Application ......................................................................................................................................... 1 

1. Background  ................................................................................................................................... 2 

2. Scope  .............................................................................................................................................. 2 

3. Accountability & Responsibility. ................................................................................................ 3 

4. Basic Principles  ............................................................................................................................ 4 

5. Exemptions to these Contract Procedure Rules  ................................................................ 4 

6. Requirements to consult Assistant Director of Legal Services and Assistant 

Director of Strategic Procurement  ............................................................................................... 5 

 ................................................................................................................................................................ 5 

8.Procuring via Frameworks, Collaborative Procurements, ,and Dynamic Purchasing 

Systems  ............................................................................................................................................... 6 

The Contracting Process  ............................................................................................................ 6 

9. Competition Requirements including Direct Contract Awards ........................................ 6 

10.  Localism  ...................................................................................................................................... 9 

11. Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems  ...................................... 9 

12. The Quotation Process .......................................................................................................... 10 

13. Tendering Exercises  .............................................................................................................. 11 

14. Contracts Register ................................................................................................................... 14 

15. Conditions of Contract & Contract Formalities  ............................................................... 14 

Other Requirements  ................................................................................................................... 16 

16. Prevention of Corruption & Declaration of Interests  ..................................................... 16 

17. Procurement Guidance  .......................................................................................................... 16 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: 8

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: 3

Deleted: 2

Deleted: 3

Deleted: Head of Legal Services and 
Head of Procurement

Deleted: 4

Deleted: 7. Grants 

Deleted: Frameworks

Deleted: and Use of Agents 

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 5

Deleted: General

Deleted: 7

Deleted: Select Lists

Deleted: 7

Deleted: 7

Deleted: Requirements Applicable to 
all 

Deleted: 8

Deleted: Tendering Exercises 

Deleted: 9

Deleted: 0

Deleted: 1

Deleted: 1

Deleted: 1

Page 20



2 
 

 
 
Application 
 
1.  Background 
 
 
1.1 The purpose of these Contract  Procedure Rules (CPRs) is to ensure that all 

Council contracts are demonstrably made: 
 a) in compliance with the law and best practice; 
 b) maximising fairness, transparency and competition; 
 c) to improve quality and value for money;  
 d) to enable the Council to develop and deliver its Commercial Strategy; and 
 e) in compliance with the Council’s Financial Regulations.  

 
2. Scope 

 
2.1  These Contract Procedure Rules  apply to all relevant contracts made 

(including all orders placed) by, for or on behalf of the Council,  or where the 
Council is acting on behalf of other public bodies. Relevant contracts include 
arrangements for: 
a)   the supply or disposal of goods 
b)   the hire, rental or lease of goods or equipment 
c)   the provision of works and the supply of works materials 
d)   the provision of services, including consultancy services 
e)   the granting of works concessions or services concessions 
f)    the selection of sub-contractors by the Council, where these are 

nominated under a main/prime contract. 
 

2.2  Relevant contracts include contracts between the Council and any other 
contracting party, including: 
a)   Other public bodies, including other local authorities  
b)   Voluntary and community sector organisations acting as suppliers to the 
      Council 
c)   Private sector suppliers to the Council. 
 

2.3  Relevant contracts do not include: 
a)   agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land, pre-

existing property leases, and licenses; or 
b)   the award of grants by the Council 
The rules governing these are covered by separate procedural guidelines 
approved (from time to time) by the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a 
Cabinet Member.  

  
2.4 These Contract Procedure Rules apply to Council Maintained Schools except 

where the Council Scheme for Financing Schools (from time to time under 
Section 48 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998) applies.  

 
 

3. Accountability & Responsibility 

Deleted: Standing Orders

Deleted: Standing Orders

Deleted: including when

Deleted: .

Deleted: Subject to the Fair Funding 
Scheme for Financing Schools of the 
Council for the time being under 
Section 48 of the School Standards 
and Framework Act 1998 these 
Standing Orders apply to 
Gloucestershire Education Authority 
schools.

Page 21



3 
 

 
3.1 These Contract Procedure Rules apply to all Officers of the Council. Officers 

must ensure that any agents, consultants and contractual partners acting as 
procurement agents on behalf of the Council also comply with these Contract 
Procedure Rules. 
 

3.2  It is a disciplinary offence for Officers not to comply with these Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

 
3.3  Directors must ensure that their staff comply with these Contract Procedure 

Rules. 
 
3.4  An Officer must not seek or accept technical advice on the preparation of a 

request for quotation or an Invitation to tender from any party which may have 
a commercial interest in the procurement if this may prejudice the equal 
treatment of all potential suppliers or distort competition. 
 

3.5  Directors must ensure that appropriate Officers (“Authorised Officers”)  have 
received delegated authority under the Council’s Scheme of Delegation which 
authorises  them to:  
a)   make orders on behalf of the Council for the supply of goods, services 
and works ; 
b)   award contracts on behalf of the Council for the supply of goods, services 
and works;   
c   pay invoices received from suppliers in respect of goods, services and 
works provided to or on behalf of the Council;  
d)   approve tender and quotation procedures and all related documentation; 
e)    approve contract terms and conditions; 
f)    receive, retain and open tender submissions (CPR 12.4); 
g) manage contracts in accordance with the Council’s Contract Management 

Framework from time to time. 
 

 
3.6  Authorised Officers may award contracts and place orders and requisitions 

that comply with these Contract Procedure Rules provided that: 
a)   the financial values and commitments are within approved budgetary      

estimates and within their delegated responsibility; 
b)   they are within the Council’s legal powers; 
c)   where the contract involves the transfer of Council staff, or former Council 

  staff who have previously been the subject of an outsourcing of service,  
the Authorised Officer is acting in accordance the Direction made by the 
Secretary of State under section 102 of the Local Government Act 2003 
(pension provision) or any replacement. 

 
3.7  Directors must ensure that Authorised Officers have the necessary skills, 

competencies, and knowledge to undertake  procurement and/or contract 
management related duties of the scope, risk and complexity assigned to 
them. This should include attendance on appropriate relevant training 
courses, both internal and external, on areas such as procurement, finance, 
risk, business continuity and GDPR. 

Deleted: Standing Orders

Deleted: Standing Orders

Deleted: o

Deleted: Standing Orders

Deleted: Standing Orders

Deleted: 5

Deleted: Standing Orders

Deleted: c

Deleted: e

Deleted: a

Deleted: o

Deleted: 3.6 Directors must 
ensure that schemes of authorisation 
exist identifying which officers have 
responsibility and the level of their 
financial delegation for:¶
a)   authoris orders and the payment 
of invoices¶
b)   agreeing tender and quotation 
processes ¶
c)   approving tender and contract 
documents¶
d)   holding and opening returned 
tenders (CSO 13.4)¶

e)   awarding contracts¶
f)    managing contracts in line with 
the council’s Contract Management 
Framework, including performance 
monitoring and the agreement of 
specification and price variations¶
h) arrangements for the 
management of the contract¶
¶

Deleted: o

Deleted: undertaking

Deleted: mmissioning

Deleted: have skills, competencies, 
and knowledge appropriate to 

Deleted: of their activity

Page 22



4 
 

 
4 Basic Principles 
 
4.1  All purchasing and disposal activities must: 

a) achieve Best Value for public money spent in accordance with the duty 

on local authorities under Part I of the Local Government Act 1999 to secure 

continuous improvement in the way in which functions are exercised, having 

regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness as 

implemented by the Councilb)   support the Council’s corporate aims and 

policies 

c)   be consistent with the highest standards of integrity 
d)   ensure fairness and transparency in allocating public contracts 
e)   comply with all legal requirements 
f)    produce and maintain adequate records and a clear audit trail 
g)   be consistent with any procedures or guidance set out in accounting 

instructions and any procedures or guidance issued by the Assistant 
Director of Strategic Procurement.  

 
5. Exemptions to these Contract Procedure Rules 

 
5.1 No Direct Contract Awards (where competition is not undertaken) over 

£25,000 ex VAT can be made unless authorised in writing by the Director of 
Policy, Performance and Governance after considering a written report by the 
appropriate Director 

5.2 A register of all Direct Contract Awards over £25,000 ex VAT will be 
maintained by the Director of Policy, Performance and Governance and will 
be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee on an annual basis. 

 
5.3 These Contract Procedure Rules do not apply where the Council Scheme for 

Financing Schools (from time to time under Section 48 of the School 
Standards and Framework Act 1998) applies. 

 
 
 
5.4   

 
6 Requirements to consult the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance and the Assistant Director of Legal Services  

CPR 6 identifies occasions where the Contract Procedure Rules create a 
mandatory obligation to consult with the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance and the Assistant Director of Legal Services. . 

 
6.1  Subject to CPR 12.4, all quotations, expressions of interest and tenders must 

be received by the date and time given in the original advertisement.  
 

6.2  Authorised Officers must obtain the agreement of the Director of Policy, 
Performance and Governance before using any third party to conduct any 
procurement exercise on the Council’s behalf. 

Deleted: b

Deleted: v

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: Head of Commercial 
Services

Deleted: These Contract Standing 
Orders do not apply where they are 
superseded by the Fair Funding 
Scheme for Financing Schools

Deleted: <#>Any requirement under 
these Contract Standing Orders to 
seek more than one tender or 
quotation does not apply where 
arrangements are being made for the 
appointment of counsel or other 
experts by the Head of Legal 
Services, who must be satisfied that 
the fee to be paid is relative to the 
level of advice and expertise 
required.¶

Deleted: <#>Any requirement for 
competition shall not apply to the 
letting of a bespoke care, education, 
accommodation or assessment 
package for a specified individual or 
the placement of an individual to a 
provider accredited by the Council at 
the Council’s contracted rates.¶

Deleted: Subject to CSO 13.4(b) 
any exception to these Contract 
Standing Orders may only be made 
by the express direction of the 
Cabinet, Leader of the Council, a 
Cabinet Member or the Chief 
Executive.

Deleted: Head

Deleted: and Head of Commercial 
Services¶

Deleted: In addition to those 
instances outlined in CSO 6, this 
Contract Standing Order

Deleted:  indentifies

Deleted: other 

Deleted: se

Deleted: Standing Orders

Deleted:  

Deleted: Head

Deleted: and/or the Head of 
Commercial Services

Deleted: A

Deleted: An Authorised Officer may 
consider exceptions to this Standing 
Order in situations where the late 
submission is genuinely outside the 
control of the supplier concerned, but 
only with the agreement of the Head 
of Legal Services (CSO 13.4).

Deleted: Head of Commercial 
Services

Page 23



5 
 

 
6.3 Authorised Officers shall consult with the Assistant Director of Legal Services 

immediately they become aware that any significant dispute or claim may 
arise in relation to a contract or procurement exercise or during the life of a 
contract. 

 
6.4 Minor contract variations that have regard to small administrative changes can 

be undertaken by an Authorised Officer such as contact name changes, 
address changes, small service or specification changes. All major contract 
variations (i.e. anything beyond a minor change) that have regard to changes 
in price, term or terms and conditions must be referred to the Director of 
Policy, Performance and Governance.  
       

 
7.  
8. Procuring via Frameworks, Collaborative Procurements, and Dynamic 

Purchasing Systems  
 

8.1  Before carrying out a procurement process, Authorised Officers shall establish 
whether there is a suitable framework agreement, dynamic purchasing system 
or existing contract to which the Council is a party that provides a mechanism 
for ordering goods, services and works and, if so, consider whether the use of 
such framework agreement, dynamic purchasing system or existing contract 
is appropriate and adheres to the principles of Best Value.   

 
8.2 Without prejudice to CPR 7.3, where a collaborative contract, dynamic 

purchasing system or framework agreement has been let by another public 
authority or central buying organisation through competition, and in 
accordance with its own contract procedure rules  and legal requirements, 
such  contractual agreement shall be deemed to comply with the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

 
8.3  Before using any collaborative contract, an Authorised Officer must first verify 

that: 
a)   the contract was procured in accordance with all relevant UK law; 
      and 
b)   the contract was advertised appropriately, and specifically that the scope 

of the advert allowed the contract’s use by the Council; and 
c)   the contract has been let on appropriate conditions of contract; and 
d)   the contract offers, or is reasonably likely to offer, better overall value for 
      money, or benefit to the Council, than the Council could achieve through 
      independent procurement. 
 
 

The Contracting Process 
 

9. Competition Requirements 
 
Goods, Services and/or Works 
 

Deleted: Head

Deleted: the

Deleted: Head of Commercial 
Services

Deleted: <#>Grants & External 
Funding¶
¶
7.1 Authorised Officers shall have 
regard to guidance on grant making 
which may be issued from time to 
time by the Director of Finance. ¶
¶
7.2 Where the Council is using 
grant monies itself or passing it on to 
a third party, the application of that 
money shall be subject to the 
requirements of the relevant grant 
funding body.¶
¶
7.3 In considering the award of a 
grant, Directors shall have regard to 
the law on state aid and best value 
law.¶
¶
7.4 Before entering into any 
arrangement where the Council 
takes on accountable body status, 
appropriate advice must be sought 
from the Head of Finance, Head of 
Commercial Services and the Head 
of Legal Services.¶
¶

Deleted: Frameworks

Deleted: and Use of Agents

Deleted: SO

Deleted: 8

Deleted: 2

Deleted: standing orders

Deleted: this

Deleted: Contract 

Deleted: Standing Orders

Deleted: 2

Deleted: o

Deleted: and EU 

Page 24



6 
 

9.1 Calculating the Estimated Total Contract Value of any contract for goods, 
services and/or works (the “Estimated Total Contract Value”) 

 
The Estimated Total Contract Value shall be calculated as follows: 
 
a) the Estimated Total Contract Value excluding VAT shall include the 

estimated value of any options (including extension options), lots or 
renewals under the relevant contract;; 

 
b) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a framework agreement or dynamic 

purchasing system shall be the total value, exclusive of VAT, of all of the 
call-off contracts that may be awarded under that framework agreement or 
dynamic purchasing system; and 

 

c) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a works concession contract or a 
services concession contract shall be the total estimated turnover of the 
supplier generated over the duration of the contract, net of VAT, in 
consideration of the works and services which are the object of a works 
concession contract or (as appropriate) a services concession contract 
and for the supplies incidental to such works and services.  

 
9.2 The rules when calculating the Estimated Total Contract Value are: 
 

a) purchases of the same or similar type of goods,services and/or works 
must be aggregated and the Estimated Total Contract Value shall not be 
calculated with the intention of excluding it from the scope of these 
Contract Procedure Rules; 

 
b) where there is a common requirement for goods, services and/or works 

across the Council, the Estimated Total Contract Value shall be the 
aggregate of all purchases across the whole Council in respect of such 
goods, services and/or works;: 

 
c) a contract for goods,services and/or works shall not be sub-divided or its 

Estimated Total Contract Value artificially under estimated or 
disaggregated into two or more separate contracts with the intention of 
avoiding the scope of these Contract Procedure Rules and/or relevant 
legislation; and 

 
d) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a contract for goods, services and/or 

works shall be the value as determined when the advertisement in respect 
of that contract is issued or when the Council commences its procurement 
procedure, in respect thereof, whichever is earlier; 

      
e) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a works concession contract or a 

services concession contract shall be determined when the advertisement 
is issued or when the Council commences its procurement procedure, 
whichever is earlier unless it is a Regulated Procurement, in which case 
the Estimated Total Contract Value shall be calculated in accordance with 
the provisions of The Concession Contracts Regulations 2016. 

Page 25



7 
 

 

9.3 All contracts for goods, services and/or works  that have an Estimated Total 

Contract Value equal to or in excess of the relevant  threshold prescribed by 

UK public procurement legislation and the provisions of these Contract 

Procedure Rules shall be procured in accordance with such legislation. .  

 
9.4 All contracts for goods, services, and/or works  that have an Estimated Total 

Contract Value that is less than the relevant  threshold prescribed by UK 
public procurement legislation shall be procured  in accordance with the 
provisions of these Contract  Procedure Rules. 
 

9.5 Contracts for goods and/or services that have an Estimated Total Contract 
Value ex VATof : 
a) less than  £5,000 the Authorised Officer should obtain at least one 

quotation from a suitable supplier (email is sufficient) or on the basis of a 
pre-quoted price (such as in a supplier’s catalogue). 

b) at £5,000 and over but less than £25,000 may be procured after obtaining 
a single written quotation  which must be obtained using the Council’s e- 
procurement system. 

c) at £25,000 and over but less than   £100,000 may be procured after 
obtaining three written quotations which must be obtained using the 
Council’s e-procurement system. 

d) at £100,000 and over but less than the  relevant threshold prescribed by 

UK public procurement legislation must be procured after having 

undertaken a competitive tender process using the Council’s e-

procurement system. 

e) which is equal to or exceeds  the  relevant threshold prescribed by UK 
public procurement legislation must be procured after having undertaken 
a competitive tender process using the Council’s e-procurement system. 
 

9.6 Contracts for works that have an Estimated Total Contract Value:: 
a) up to £250,000 may be procured after obtaining three written quotations 
which must be obtained using the Council’s e-procurement system. 
 
b) between £250,001 and up to the relevant  threshold prescribed by UK 
public procurement legislation may be procured after having undertaken a 
competitive tender procurement process using the council’s e-procurement 
system. 
 
c) which is equal to or exceeds the  relevant threshold prescribed by UK 
public procurement legislation must be procured after having undertaken a 
competitive  tender procurement process using the Council’s e-procurement 
system. 

 
9.7 Contract extensions may only be considered if the relevant contract contains 

an extension option or if there are legitimate grounds for an extension as 

Deleted:  and/or services and all 
contracts for works

Deleted: total value or estimated 
total value 

Deleted: EU

Deleted: tendered

Deleted:  European procurement 
law and the provisions of the Public 
Contract Regulations 2006 or such 
other replacement or amending 
legislation as may from time to time 
apply

Deleted:  and/or services and all 
contracts for works

Deleted: total value or estimated ...

Deleted: of 

Deleted: EU

Deleted: tendered

Deleted: Standing Orders

Deleted:  

Deleted: total value or estimated ...

Deleted: up to

Deleted: 1

Deleted: Authrosied

Deleted: may be procured after ...

Deleted: .

Deleted: between 

Deleted: 1

Deleted: 1

Deleted: 7

Deleted: three 

Deleted: d against a written ...

Deleted: between 

Deleted: 75,001

Deleted: up to

Deleted: EU threshold 

Deleted: having undertaken a ...

Deleted: Over

Deleted: EU

Deleted: tendering process 

Deleted: total value or estimated ...

Deleted: of

Deleted: c

Deleted: EU

Deleted: tendering process 

Deleted: over

Deleted: EU

Deleted:  

Deleted: tendering process 

Page 26



8 
 

provided by UK public procurement legislation.  Any such extension must be 
authorised in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 
 

9.8 A Direct Contract Award  must only be considered as a last resort when all 
other procurement strategies have been excluded and provided such contract 
award would not give rise to a breach of UK public procurement law. A Direct 
Contract Award whose Estimated Total Contract Value is less than the 
relevant threshold prescribed by UK public procurement law is permissible 
provided that: 
 
a) it has been determined through market analysis/engagement that only one 

particular supplier is capable of providing the required goods, services or 
works; or 

b) for reasons of extreme urgency brought about by events unforeseeable by 
the Council there is insufficient time to conduct a competitive procurement 
process (provided the reason for such urgency is not attributable to the 
Council); or 

c) in limited cases, to protect intellectual property rights that an incumbent 
supplier holds.  

   
 

10. Localism  
 

10.1 When seeking quotes for goods and services with an Estimated Total 
Contract Value ex VAT at £25,000 and over, Authorised Officers should use 
reasonable endeavours to seek at least one quote from a Gloucestershire 
based supplier. For goods and services less than £25,000,  Authorised 
Officers may wish to consider obtaining two quotes one of which is from a 
Gloucestershire based supplier.  

 
 
11. Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems  

 
11.1 Framework agreements may be procured by the Council, or by other public 

bodies or public sector buying consortia as arrangements under which named 
public bodies (including the Council) may award call-off contracts. – 
 
11.2  The procurement by the Council of a new framework agreement must 
be in accordance with any guidance issued by the Assistant Director of 
Strategic Procurement.  

 
11.3 The term of a framework agreement must not exceed 4 years.  

 
11.4  Dynamic purchasing systems (DPSs) may be procured by the Council, or by 

other public bodies, or public sector buying consortia, as arrangements under 
which named public bodies (including the Council) may award call-off 
contracts.   

 
11.5  A DPS must be operated as a completely electronic process and 
requires a new competitive procurement procedure to be carried out before 

Deleted: there is a legal right to 
extend the contract and must follow 
the Council’s governance process for 
approval

Deleted: Direct Award (DA) should

Deleted: only in accordance with EU 
legislation under the following 
circumstances:¶
where it is determined through 
market analysis/engagement that the 
services are only capable of being 
provided by one particular provider; 
or¶
where there is an urgent need; or ¶
in limited cases, to protect intellectual 
property rights that the provider holds

Deleted: For all Ddirect Cntract 
Aawards  at over £100,00075,001 
and over  ex VAT the process 
detailed in any guidance from the 
Assistant Director of Strategic 
Procurement Head of Commercial 
Services must be followed.¶

Deleted: General

Deleted:  must, when looking to 
award any relevant contract, fully 
comply at all times with any 
procurement guidance issued by the 
Head of Commercial Services under 
CSO 17

Deleted: Select Lists

Deleted: A Select List is a list of pre-
qualified suppliers used for running 
quotations or non 

Deleted:  EU tenders.

Deleted: The use of a select list 
may be appropriate where:¶
a)   quotations or tenders are 
regularly obtained for the same or 
similar types of goods, services, and 
works; and¶
b)   it is not practical or appropriate 
that the goods, services and works in¶
      question be aggregated into a 
single requirement and/or competed 
under¶
      one procurement; and¶
the total value of the goods, services 
and work, if aggregated, would     not 
exceed any relevant EU threshold.

Deleted: A select list shall only be 
used where an agreed procurement 
strategy is in place that has 
identified that a select list is the most 
appropriate option having 
considered all others.

Deleted: 

Deleted: Authorised Officers shall 
seek the prior agreement of the Head 
of Commercial Services before 
establishing a select list. The 
authorised officer shall ensure that 
the level of expenditure through the 
select list is monitored so as not to 
risk breaching the EU rules on 
aggregation.

Page 27



9 
 

awarding any call-off contract under it. Direct contract awards under a DPS 
are not permissible. -. 

11.6 Additional suppliers may be admitted to a DPS throughout its term. 
 
11.7 The term of a DPS shall be a period that is proportionate to the nature of the 

goods, services or works to be procured under it. 
 
11.8 The procurement by the Council of a new DPS must be in accordance with 

any guidance issued by the Assistant Director of Strategic Procurement.  
 
12. The Quotation Process 
 
12.1 Save in respect of quotations sought by or on behalf of any Council 

Maintained School in respect of goods and/or services (in relation to which the 
Council Scheme for Financing Maintained Schools shall apply), the quotation 
process described in this CPRR12 and CPRs 9.5(a), 9.5(b) and 9.6(a) shall 
be complied with when: 
a) the Estimated Total Contract Value  for goods and/or services is less than 
£100,000, or 
b) the Estimated Total Contract Value  for works is  £250,000 or less . 
 

12.2 Save in respect of quotations sought by the Council in respect of contracts for 
goods and/or services of the value described in CPR 9.5(a) requests for a 
quotation must  be carried out using  the Council’s e-procurement system in 
accordance with guidance from the Assistant Director of Strategic 
Procurement.  

 
 

 
13. Tendering Exercises 

 
13.1  All competitive procurement  exercises must be conducted electronically 

through the Council’s e-procurement system unless the use of an alternative 
process has been previously approved in writing by the Director of Policy, 
Performance and Governance. 
 

13.2  Receiving Expressions of Interest 
All expressions of interest must be received by the date and time given in     
the original advertisement. An Authorised Officer may consider exceptions to 
this CPR  in situations where the late submission is genuinely outside the 
control of the supplier concerned, but only with the agreement of the Assistant 
Director of Legal Services. 

 
13.3 Issuing Invitations to Tender 

a)   Where a tendering process involves a process of qualification and 
selection before the award phase, an Authorised Officer shall only issue 
an invitation to tender to those suppliers that have met the required 
selection criteria, including any minimum standards set. Suppliers may be 
shortlisted to be invited to tender on the basis of marks awarded against 
the selection criteria 

Deleted: select list may be either a 
Rolling select list or a set select list:¶
a)   with a rolling select list a supplier 
may apply to the Council at any time    
for inclusion on the select list.¶
b)   with a set select list a supplier 
may apply to the Council only within   
specific time

Deleted: periods, in response to 
specific advertisements placed by the 
Council

Deleted: T

Deleted: applies

Deleted:  

Deleted: e

Deleted: t

Deleted: v

Deleted: of a contract

Deleted: 75

Deleted:  or less

Deleted:  for goods and services 
and

Deleted: for works

Deleted: R

Deleted: should

Deleted: out on

Deleted: Head of Commercial 
Services.

Deleted: 12.3 Where a single 
supplier is to be selected, an 
authorised officer may choose either 
to:¶
a)   place an order with the selected 
supplier, on the basis of a pre-quoted 
price (such as in a supplier’s 
catalogue) having satisfied 
themselves that the price to be paid 
represents good value for money; or¶
b)   issue a request for quotation to 
the selected single supplier

Deleted: Requirements applicable 
to all t

Deleted: e

Deleted: tendering

Deleted: Head of Commercial 
Services.

Deleted: a

Deleted: o

Deleted: ontract Standing Order

Deleted: Head 

Deleted: a

Deleted: o

Page 28



10 
 

 
b) An Authorised Officer shall ensure that an invitation to tender is based on 

a robust procurement strategy based on model instructions for tendering 
approved by the Assistant Director of Strategic Procurement.  

    
 c)   Suppliers shall be allowed sufficient time to complete their tenders, taking 

  into account the complexity of the requirement and the contract, and the    
time required for them to prepare their response. A minimum of ten 
working days must be allowed from the date on which the invitation was 
sent. 

 
d)   All suppliers being invited to tender by the Council must be issued with the 

same   information at the same time and subject to the same conditions. 
Any clarification, supplementary information, or changes to the content or 
detail of the invitation, must be given on the same basis. 

 
e)  All communications with the suppliers must  be through the Council’s e-

procurement system.  
 

13.4  Receiving Tenders 
a)  Where in accordance with CPR 12.1 tenders are to be submitted 
electronically, Authorised Officers shall ensure that they are stored securely in 
the Council’s e-procurement system and remain un-opened until the specified 
date and time, after which they shall be opened by an officer who has been 
authorised to do so by the Assistant Director of Legal Services in accordance 
with a procedure agreed by the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance. 
 
b)  If any tenderer has not followed the instructions issued within an invitation 
to tender detailing how their tenders should be delivered, packaged, marked 
and referenced, such tenders must normally be excluded from further 
participation in the tender process to which such instructions related. 
However, in exceptional circumstances, the Assistant Director of Legal 
Services may permit an occurrence of non-minor compliance with such 
instructions provided that the principle of equal treatment of tenderers and the 
integrity and confidentiality of the tendering process would not be infringed.  
 
c)  Any tender:  
 that does not comply with the instructions set out in the relevant invitation to 
tender (save for incidences of minor non-compliance of the type described in 
[CPR 13.4(b)], shall be rejected and returned to the tendering supplier 
together with an explanation for its rejection. 
 
d) Any tender received by the Council after the published tender submission 
deadline shall not be opened or considered unless, in the opinion of Assistant 
Director of Legal Services or Principal Lawyer or Legal Services Business 
Partner, considering relevant evidence provided by the Authorised Officer, the 
failure to meet the deadline was due to: 
(i) the Council’s fault; 
(ii) an act of God, flood, drought, earthquake or other natural disaster; 

Deleted: a

Deleted: o

Deleted: Head of Commercial 
Services

Deleted: should

Deleted: CP

Deleted: 3

Deleted: between the Assistant 
Director of Legal Services and the 
Assistant Director of Strategic 
Procurement

Deleted:  

Deleted: (i) received by the Council 
after any of the tenders in the same 
tender process has been opened; or ¶
(ii) 

Deleted: CP

Deleted:  

Deleted: [Deadline]

Deleted: taking into account 

Page 29



11 
 

(iii) epidemic or pandemic; 
(iv) terrorist attack, civil war, civil commotion or riots, war, threat of or 
preparation for war, armed conflict, imposition of sanctions, embargo, or 
breaking off of diplomatic relations; 
(v) nuclear, chemical or biological contamination or sonic boom; 
(vi) any law or action by government; 
(vii) the collapse of buildings, fire, explosion or accident; or  
(viii) an interruption or failure of utility service in circumstances which are 
beyond the control of the tenderer (but only in circumstances where such 
tender was submitted electronically). 
 
    
 
 
 

13.5   Award 
a)   Any contract(s) advertised via the Council’s e-procurement system shall 

be awarded to the supplier(s) whose tender(s) is/are the most 
economically advantageous, (assessed from the point of view of the 
Council) as determined with reference to the published award criteria.. 

 
b)   Such contract awards may be made only on the basis of : 

 i) price; 
ii)  cost; or 
iii) best price-quality ratio 

 
c)   If awarding a contract on the basis of the ‘best price-quality ratio’, an 

Authorised Officer shall apply criteria linked to the subject matter of the 
contract.  

 
d)    If, having completed a tender evaluation exercise, a tenderer has been 

identified by the Council as offering the most economically advantageous 
tender, a contract may be awarded to them.  

 
e) When awarding any contract for goods, services or works whose       

aggregate value exceeds the relevant  threshold prescribed under the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015, an Authorised Officer shall adhere to  
a minimum ten (10) day Standstill Period before entering into such 
contract and issue a  Standstill Notice at the outset of such period to all 
tenderers and candidates which explains the Council’s, full reasons for its 
award  decision, and which also includes details of  the characteristics 
and relative advantages of the successful tender. 

 
 
14.  Contracts Register 
 
14.1 In accordance with The Local Government Transparency Code 2015, 

Authorised Officers must: 
 

Deleted: a)   Where in accordance 
with CSO 13.1 tenders are to be 
submitted electronically, authorised 
officers shall ensure that they are 
kept secure and un-opened via the 
Council’s e-procurement system 
until the specified date and time, 
after which they shall be opened by 
an officer who has been authorised 
to do so by the Head of Legal 
Services. The precise process to be 
adopted shall be agreed with the 
Head of Commercial Services and 
the Head of Legal Services. ¶
b)   If suppliers have not followed 
the instructions issued within the 
invitation to tender (with regard to 
how tenders should be delivered, 
packaged, marked, referenced etc.) 
such tenders must normally be 
excluded from further participation 
in the tender process. However, in 
exceptional circumstances, the 
Head of Legal Services may permit 
tenders to be considered in the 
case of a minor breach by the 
tenderer, providing the principle of ...

Deleted: d)

Deleted: Any tender that is received 
after the tenders have been opened, or ...

Deleted: <#>Tendering 
Exercises¶

Deleted: 14.1 Contracts for service 
concessions and contracts for goods, ...

Deleted: 14.3

Deleted: C

Deleted: best      meet(s) the 
previously published award criteria

Deleted: A

Deleted: only

Deleted: the ‘most economically 
advantageous tender’ (which is ...

Deleted: the lowest price

Deleted: most economically 
advantageous tender’     (the best ...

Deleted: use

Deleted: the Director or otherwise 
Authorised Officer believes that one ...

Deleted: which

Deleted: in

Deleted: EU

Deleted: ; 

Deleted: apply

Deleted: provide, with the

Deleted: n

Deleted: , sent

Deleted: the

Deleted: including

Deleted: er

Page 30



12 
 

“Publish details of any contract awards, commissioned activity, purchase 
order, framework agreement and any other legally enforceable agreement 
with a value that exceeds £5,000 ex VAT” 

 
which must comply with the requirements set out in any guidance issued by 
the Director of Policy, Performance and Governance. 
 
 
 

15.  Conditions of Contract & Contract Formalities 
 

15.1 All contracts must be formally concluded in writing before the supply, service 
or work begins. 

 
15.2  Contracts shall be written in plain language and shall adopt either: 

a)   conditions of contract produced by professional bodies and agreed by the 
      Assistant Director of Legal Services; or 
b)   conditions of contract developed by or agreed by the Assistant Director of 

Legal Services for specific types of procurement or specific procurement 
projects; or 

c)   conditions of contract within collaborative contracts let by other public 
      contracting authorities; or 
d)   exceptionally, and where unavoidable, conditions of contract requested by 
      suppliers; but only where the use of these conditions has been  
      agreed in advance by the Assistant Director of Legal Services. 
 

15.3  CPRs 15.1 and 15.2 do not apply to low value, one-off retail 
purchases where a purchasing card is used. 
 

15.4  All contracts, irrespective of value, shall as a minimum clearly specify: 
a)   a full description of what is to be supplied (i.e. the works, materials,     

services, matters or things to be furnished, received or completed) 
b)   the quantities to be provided 
c)   the provisions for payment (i.e. the price to be paid and when) 
d)   the time(s) and location(s) for delivery or performance 
e)   the provisions for the Council to terminate the contract 
f)    the provisions for indemnity and insurance for service contracts 
g)   the contract term or, as appropriate, the required timeframe for delivering 

milestone deliverables 
h) such other conditions and terms as may be agreed between the parties 

which shall include, where relevant, a reference to continuous 
improvement in accordance with the Best Value legislation.  

 
15.5 Where contracts are awarded which involve the transfer of Council staff, or of 

former Council staff who were previously the subject of an outsourcing of 
service, they shall include provisions to ensure that the relevant regulations 
are complied with and that the Council is appropriately indemnified. Where the 
Council is a third party to any transfer, the contract shall in addition ensure 
that the Council has access to staff and employee information on request 

 

Deleted: Head

Deleted: Head

Deleted: previously

Deleted: Head

Deleted: C

Deleted: SOs

Deleted: b

Deleted: v

Page 31



13 
 

15.6  Every relevant contract must provide for the Council to cancel the contract 
and recover any resulting losses if the supplier or his or her employees or 
agents, with or without his or her knowledge: 
a) does, or has done, anything improper to influence the Council to give him 

or her the contract; 
b) commits an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or Section 117(2) of the 

Local Government Act 1972 
 
 . 
 
15.7 In appropriate cases, after consultation with the Assistant Director of Legal 

Services, the supplier shall be required to give sufficient security for the due 
performance of his or her contract. 

 
15.8  Where a relevant contract value exceeds:  

a) £100,000 in total but is less than £500,000 it must be signed by at least 
two Officers of the Council, being the relevant Authorised Officer and one 
other Officer above salary scale point 33; or b) £500,000 in total it shall 
be executed under the common seal of the Council.   

 
15.9  Unless otherwise agreed by the Assistant Director of Legal Services, a contract 

must be executed under the common seal of the Council  where: 
a)   the Council  wishes to reserve the right to enforce the contract more than 
six years after its end;      or 
b) there is any doubt as to whether valid consideration is being created 

under the contract. 
 

15.10  Contract sealing shall be carried out by the Assistant Director of Legal 
Services or those persons who have been given authority to do so from time 
to time.  

 
 
Other Requirements 
 
16. Prevention of Corruption & Declaration of Interests 

 
16.1  Officers shall comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees and 

the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement and Strategy. In particular: 
a)   no Officer shall use or be seen to use their position to obtain any personal     

or private benefit (including benefit accruing to connected third parties) 
from any contract entered into by the Council; 

b)   Officers’ attention is drawn to the provisions of the Code of Conduct 
relating to the separation of roles during tendering. 

 
16.2  With regards to any contract that has been proposed or entered into by the 

Council, Officers must disclose in writing to their Director any instances: 
a)   where they have any relationship with a supplier; or 
b)   where they have any personal interest (financial or non-financial) which     

could reasonably be considered to conflict with the Council’s interests. 
 

Deleted: 15.7

Deleted: In appropriate cases, after 
consultation with the Head of Legal 
Services, the supplier shall provide 
for the payment of liquidated 
damages by the supplier where he or 
she fails to complete the contract in 
accordance with the terms of the 
contract, including within the 
specified time

Deleted: 8

Deleted: Head

Deleted: contract

Deleted: 9

Deleted: 75

Deleted: 1

Deleted: value 

Deleted: o

Deleted: a

Deleted: o

Deleted: o

Deleted: and¶

Deleted: above EU threshold 

Deleted: in total value 

Deleted: 10

Deleted: Head

Deleted: sealed

Deleted: may

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: end; 

Deleted: 1

Deleted: Head

Page 32



14 
 

17. Procurement Guidance 
 

In support of these Contract Procedure Rules, the Assistant Director of 
Strategic Procurement  may issue guidance, procedures and standard 
documents as Procurement Guidance. Authorised Officers shall comply with 
such guidance when undertaking procurement activities and contract 
management. 
 

Deleted: Standing Orders

Deleted: Head of Commercial 
Services

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



FINANCE PROCEDURES RULES 

Constitution Committee – 18 November 2021 

1. The Council’s Finance Procedure Rules determine the framework for 

managing the Authority’s financial affairs.   The Chief Financial Officer is 

responsible for maintaining a continuous review of the Finance Procedure 

Rules and submitting any additions or changes necessary to full Council for 

approval following consideration by the Cabinet or Leader of the Council or 

Cabinet Members and Audit and Governance Committee. 

2. The Finance Procedure Rules were reviewed and updated to make the 

contents easier to find and make sure the subject matter was relevant to 

current working. 

3.  Some sections were expanded to give greater clarification; some sections 

were moved from other sections of the constitution as the information was 

more relevant to the finance section. 

4. Some sections were updated for changes in the law such as money 

laundering sections or for changes in technology. 

5. As a result of that review, the following changes are proposed to the Finance 

Procedure Rules as follows: 

Section/Heading Change Proposed 

General introduction Change the title of this section from General 

Introduction to Contents. 

Expanded the sections so it is easier to find 

the detail. 

Definition Added numbered bullet points to make this 

section easier to read. 

All sections Change reference to Finance Regulations to 

Finance Procedure Rules. 

Change reference to Accounting Instructions 

to the Finance Manual. 

Finance Procedure Rule A: 

Financial Management 

Additional paragraph added on delegated 

responsibilities for chief finance officer in A5. 

Finance Procedure Rule B: 

Financial Planning 

Additional paragraph on delegated 

responsibilities for budget managers/holders 

in B10. 

Expansion and clarification on paragraphB14. 

A new section and paragraphs on year end 

treatment of under/overspends in B19-20. 

Section/Heading  Change Proposed 

Finance Procedure Rule C: Removed the words “Director of Corporate 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



Risk Management and 

Control of Resources 

Resources” from C2. 

Added a sentence relating to insurance 

claims in C3. 

Added a sentence relating to insurance 

claims in C3. 

Added stocks/stores to the sentence in C11. 

Changed the reference to cheque as a 

method of payment to electronic transfer in 

C14. 

Finance Procedure Rule D: 

Systems and Procedures 

Added a new sentence relating to Freedom of 

Information in D3. 

Added a sentence on the collection of income 

in D5. 

Added a new paragraph on Money 

Laundering in D7. 

Finance Procedure Rule E: 

External Arrangements 

Added a new section on Grants to Outside 

Bodies to include information previously 

included in the Contract Procedural Rules. 

 

 
6. This report recommends that the Constitution Committee approves the 

proposed changes for recommendation to County Council. 

 

Steve Mawson 

Executive Director – Corporate Resources 

steve.mawson@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

Page 36

mailto:steve.mawson@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Clean version without tracked changes 

 

FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES 

 

CONTENTS  Paragraph  
   

General Introduction   2.1  
Part A: Financial Management  

  Virement and Year end Balances          A.1 
  Accounting Policies        A.3 
  Accounting Procedures and Records         A.4 
  Annual Statement        A.5 
Part B: Financial Planning  

  Budget Approval        B.1 
  Budget Preparation        B.4 
  Budget Monitoring and Control      B.7 
  Capital Programme                                                                                    B.13 
 Treatment of year end Under Spend      B.19 
Part C: Risk Management and Control of Resources  

  Risk Management        C.1 
  Audit and Internal Control       C.5 
  Preventing Fraud and Corruption      C.9 
  Security of Assets        C.10 
  Banking and Treasury Management      C.12 
Part D: Systems and Procedures  

  General         D.1 
  Income         D.5 
  Expenditure          D.8 
  Payments to Employees and Members     D.11 
  Taxation         D.12 
  Trading Accounts        D.14 

Part E: External arrangements 
 Partnerships         E.1 
 External Funding        E.4 
 Grants to Outside Bodies                                                                    E.5 
 

 

DEFINITIONS 

 

1.1 The Chief Financial Officer /S151 Officer is that person designated for the purpose of 

Section 151 Local Government Act 1972 and Section 114 Local Government Finance 

Act 1992. 

 

1.2 Budget Heads are those cost and income headings recorded in the Council’s Budget 

Book. 

 

Page 37



1.3 Advice and guidance issued by the Chief Financial Officer includes the Finance Manual, 

which provide detailed guidance on financial control, audit, accountancy, financial 

management matters and the design and use of controlled stationery.  

 

1.4 A Service is defined as a discrete area of the County Council’s activity managed by a 

Director or Head of Service as defined in Part 5 of the Constitution.  

 

1.5 A Scheme in the context of the capital programme may be a single scheme or a 

package of smaller schemes being carried out in a defined geographical area of works of 

a similar type.   

 

Page 38



GENERAL INTRODUCTION 

 

2.1  These Finance Procedure Rules are that part of the Constitution approved by the 

Council, which provide the framework for managing the Authority’s financial affairs.  

They apply to every Member and Officer of the Authority and anyone acting on its behalf 

with the exception of Schools to which Schools’ Finance Procedure Rules apply. 

 

2.2  The Constitution and Scheme of Delegation identify the financial responsibilities 

of the full Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny Members, the Head of Paid Service, the 

Monitoring Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and other Directors. 

 

2.3  All Members and staff have a general responsibility for taking reasonable action 

to provide for the security of the assets under their control and for ensuring that the use 

of these resources is legal, is properly authorised, provides value for money and 

achieves best value.  

 

2.4  The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for maintaining a continuous review of 

the Finance Procedure Rules and submitting any additions or changes necessary to full 

Council for approval following consideration by the Cabinet or Leader of the Council or 

Cabinet Members and Audit and Governance Committee. 

 

2.5  Directors are responsible for ensuring that all staff in their departments are aware 

of the existence and content of the Authority’s Finance Procedure Rules and other 

internal regulatory documents (including the Finance Manual) and that they comply with 

them.  

 

2.6  The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for issuing advice and guidance (e.g. 

the Finance Manual) to underpin the Finance Procedure Rules that Members, Officers 

and others acting on behalf of the Authority are required to follow. 

 

 

INANCE PROCEDURE RULE A: FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the running of the 

Authority, including the Policy Framework and budget. 

 

Actions that are “contrary to the budget” include: 

 

  Initiating a new policy; 

  Committing expenditure in future years to above the budget level; 

  Incurring interdepartmental transfers above virement limits; 

Page 39



  Causing the total expenditure financed from Council Tax, grants and 

corporately held reserves to increase beyond the budgeted level. 

 

Virement and year end balances: 

 

A.1 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the administration of the scheme of 

virement as set out below: 

 

 The Cabinet, Leader of the Council and Cabinet Members are responsible for taking in-

year decisions on resources and priorities and can therefore approve virement between 

services provided: 

 

  It does not involve a new policy or policy change;  

  It does not involve an increasing commitment in future years that cannot 

be contained within existing approved budget allocations. 

 

Directors may effect virement between Budget Heads provided: 

 

  It does not involve a transfer of resources between services (Note: A 

service is defined by reference to a particular Budget Head in the Budget 

Book); 

  It does not involve a new policy or policy change; 

  It does not involve an increasing commitment in future years that cannot 

be contained within existing approved budget allocations;  

  That the Chief Financial Officer is notified in respect of all virements over 

£50,000. 

 

A.2 Unless otherwise determined by the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet 

Member any service under-spending or overspending will be carried forward to the 

following financial year and the approved budget adjusted accordingly.  

 

Accounting policies: 

 

A.3 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for selecting accounting policies and 

ensuring that they are applied consistently. 

 

Accounting procedures and records: 

 

A.4 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for determining the accounting procedures 

and records for the Authority.  

 

A.5 The Chief Financial Officer can choose to delegate day-to-day responsibilities to an 

appropriate representative(s). Where this is the case the delegation and officer responsibilities 

must be clearly documented and be kept under regular review by the Chief Financial Officer. 

Page 40



 

 

The annual statement of accounts: 

 

A.6 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring that the annual statement of 

accounts is prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement of Recommended Practice 

(CIPFA/LASAAC).  The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for approving 

the annual statement of accounts.  

 

Page 41



FINANCE PROCEDURE RULE B: FINANCIAL PLANNING 

 

B.1 The full Council is also responsible for approving procedures for agreeing variations to 

approved budgets, plans and strategies forming the Policy Framework and for 

determining the circumstances in which a decision will be deemed to be contrary to the 

Policy Framework or budget.  Decisions that appear contrary to the Policy Framework 

or budget should be referred to the full Council by the Monitoring Officer.   

 

B.2 The full Council is responsible for setting the level at which the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council or a Cabinet Member may reallocate budget funds from one service to another.  

The Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member is responsible for taking in-

year decisions on resources and priorities in order to deliver the budget Policy 

Framework within the financial limits set by the full Council.  

 

BUDGETING 

 

Budget: 

 

B.3 The resource allocation, budget process and general format of the budget will be 

proposed by the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member on the advice of 

the Chief Financial Officer. 

 

Budget preparation: 

 

B.4 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring that an annual revenue budget, 

capital programme and medium term financial strategy is prepared for consideration by 

the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member before submission to the full 

Council.  The full Council may amend the budget or ask the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council or a Cabinet Member to reconsider it before approving it.   

 

B.5 The Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member is responsible for issuing 

guidance on the general content of the budget in consultation with the Chief Financial 

Officer as soon as possible following approval by the full Council.   

 

B.6 It is the responsibility of Directors to ensure that budget estimates reflecting agreed 

service plans are submitted to the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member 

and that these estimates are prepared in line with guidance issued by the Chief 

Financial Officer and/or Cabinet.  

 

Budget monitoring and control: 

 

B.7 Subject to these Regulations, Directors have the authority to incur expenditure 

provided in the revenue budget or capital programme approved by the full Council. 

 

Page 42



B.8 Expenditure may not be incurred if it is contrary or not wholly in accordance with the 

Policy Framework or budget.  

 

B.9 Directors must undertake regular monitoring of revenue and capital expenditure and, 

subject to these Regulations, where there is an overspending, investigate and take 

appropriate action to bring spending back into line with the budget.  

 

B.10 Executive Directors have overall budget responsibility and can delegate the day-to-day 

management to Budget Managers and Budget Holders as appropriate for their service.  

 

B.11 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for providing advice to Directors to enable 

budgets to be monitored effectively.  The Chief Financial Officer must report to the 

Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member and Scrutiny on the overall 

financial position on a regular basis.  

 

B.12 It is the responsibility of Directors to control income and expenditure within their area 

and to monitor performance, taking account of advice provided by the Chief Financial 

Officer.  They should report to Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member and 

Scrutiny on variances in both capital and revenue spending within their own areas, take 

action where necessary to avoid exceeding their budget allocation and alert the Chief 

Financial Officer to any problems. 

 

Resource allocation: 

 

B.13 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for developing and maintaining a resource 

allocation process that ensures due consideration of the Council’s Policy Framework.  

 

The Capital Programme: 

 

B.14 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring that a capital programme is 

prepared on an annual basis for consideration by the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or 

a Cabinet Member before submission to the full Council.  No scheme shall be included 

in the capital programme unless it has been through the appraisal and prioritisation 

process approved by the Cabinet. The following are exceptions to this process which 

would need Council agreement: 

 

  Initiating a new policy; 

  Committing capital expenditure in the current or future years to a level 

above the approved budget levels; 

  Transferring resources between revenue and capital budgets except as 

Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay (RCCO). .  

 

Page 43



B.15 Directors are responsible for ensuring that variations in capital project costs that occur 

during the course of a contract are contained within the resources allocated to that 

service.  

 

B.16 No lease, hire, rental or similar agreement that may involve a charge against the 

County Council’s approved borrowing or credit limit may be entered into without advice 

from the Chief Financial Officer. 

 

Guidelines: 

 

B.17 Guidelines on budget preparation are issued to Members and Directors by the Cabinet, 

Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member following agreement with the Chief 

Financial Officer.  The guidelines will take account of: 

 

  Legal requirements; 

  Medium-term planning prospects; 

  The corporate strategy; 

  Available resources; 

  Spending pressures; 

  Best value and other relevant government guidelines; 

  Other internal policy documents;  

  Cross-cutting issues (where relevant). 

 

Maintenance of reserves and balances: 

 

B.18 It is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer to advise the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council or a Cabinet Member and/or the full Council on prudent levels of reserves and 

balances for the Authority. 

 

Treatment of Year-end Under/Overspends: 

 

B.19     Any underspend at the finance year-end on a service area’s revenue budget will not be 

carried forward to the following financial year but will be transferred to General Reserves 

unless approved as detailed below. 

 

B.20     The Chief Financial Officer may approve a budget carry forward of a ring-fenced grant 

or where a grant has conditions or expectations attached, where the related expenditure 

is not expected to be incurred in the current financial year. Cabinet will approve all other 

budget carry forward requests through the outturn report, taking advice from the Chief 

Financial Officer. 

Page 44



FINANCE PROCEDURE RULE C: RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES 

 

Risk Management 

 

C.1 Directors are responsible for ensuring the development and monitoring of effective and 

comprehensive systems for identifying, evaluating and controlling significant business 

risks in their directorates. 

 

C.2 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the development, monitoring and review 

of the Council’s risk management policy statement and strategy, which is approved by 

Cabinet and for reviewing the effectiveness of risk management.  The Chief Financial 

Officer is also the Council’s principal risk management adviser and co-ordinator. 

 

C.3 The Chief Financial Officer will assess the Council’s overall insurance requirements 

and will be responsible for arranging all insurance cover.  The Chief Financial Officer 

will review insurance cover on an annual basis and will consult with Directors prior to 

arranging cover where appropriate. Directors are responsible for providing timely and 

accurate information to the Chief Financial Officer in relation to any insurance claims. 

 

C.4 Each Director shall be responsible for identifying, assessing and controlling risks within 

their directorate taking into account any advice that the Chief Financial Officer may 

have issued. 

 

Audit and Internal Control Requirements: 

 

C.5 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for advising on effective systems of internal 

control. 

 

C.6 The Council has determined that the Chief Financial Officer is responsible for 

conducting a continuous internal audit in accordance with the Accounts and Audit 

(England) Regulations 2011. 

 

C.7 Directors are expected to co-operate and supply information lawfully required to 

external auditors and to other external agencies undertaking audit, investigation or 

inspection such as HMRC. Directors are also expected to co-operate and supply 

information reasonably required to internal auditors.   

 

C.8 The Chief Financial Officer and the Monitoring Officer must be notified immediately of 

all instances of financial irregularity. 

 

Preventing Fraud and Corruption: 

 

C.9 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the development and maintenance of an 

anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy.  

Page 45



 

Security of Assets 

 

C.10 Directors should ensure that records and assets (including stocks and stores) are 

properly maintained and securely held.  They should also ensure that contingency 

plans for the security of assets and continuity of service in the event of disaster or 

system failure are in place.  

 

C.11 Directors must maintain an inventory of furniture,equipment and stock/stores and check 

at least annually that all items are accounted for.  Directors may write off inventory 

items with a value up to £5,000.  Write off of items with a value above this limit require 

the approval of the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member.  

 

Banking and Treasury Management: 

 

C.12 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for arranging the Council’s banking 

arrangements including opening and closing of all accounts.  

 

C.13 All electronic transfers of funds will only be made by the Chief Financial Officer or their 

nominated signatory.  

 

C.14 All other payments made by the Council, with the exception of those made from 

imprest accounts, will be made by electronic transfer or other payment instrument, 

bearing the manuscript or facsimile signature of the Chief Financial Officer or their 

nominee.   

 

C.15 The Authority has adopted CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 

Public Services.  Under the Code the following four clauses are adopted: 

 

1. The Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury 

management: 

 

 a treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and 

approach to risk management of its treasury management activities 

 suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in which 

the organisation will seek to achieve those policies and objectives and 

prescribing how it will manage and control those activities 

 

The content of the policy statement and TMPs will follow the recommendations 

contained in Sections 6 and 7 of the Code, subject only to amendment where 

necessary to reflect the particular circumstances of this organisation.  Such 

amendments will not result in the organisation materially deviating from the 

Code’s key principles. 

 

Page 46



2. The Council’s Audit and Governance Committee will receive reports on its 

treasury management policies, practices and activities, including, as a minimum, 

an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a mid-year review and an 

annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in its TMPs. 

 

3. The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular 

monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices to the Audit and 

Governance Committee and for the execution and administration of treasury 

management decisions to the Chief Financial Officer, who will act in accordance 

with the organisation’s policy statement and TMPs and, if they are a CIPFA 

member, CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 

 

4. The Council nominates the Audit and Governance Committee to be responsible 

for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. 

 

C.16 The Council is responsible for approving the Treasury Management Policy Statement 

as required by CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Public Services.  

The policy statement is proposed to the full Council by the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council or a Cabinet Member.  The Chief Financial Officer has delegated responsibility 

for implementing and monitoring the statement. 

 

C.17 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for reporting to the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council or a Cabinet Member a proposed treasury management strategy for the 

coming financial year at or before the start of each financial year.  

 

C.18 All executive decisions on borrowing, investment or financing shall be delegated to the 

Chief Financial Officer, who is required to act in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of 

Practice for Treasury Management in Public Services.  

 

 

Page 47



FINANCE PROCEDURE RULE D: SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 

 

General: 

 

D.1 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the operation of the Authority’s accounting 

systems, the form of accounts and the supporting financial records.  Any changes 

made by Directors to the existing financial systems or the establishment of new 

systems must be approved by the Chief Financial Officer.  However, Directors are 

responsible for the proper operation of financial processes in their own departments.  

 

D.2 Changes to agreed procedures proposed by Directors to meet their own specific 

service needs must be agreed with the Chief Financial Officer.  

 

D.3 Directors must ensure that staff are aware of their responsibilities under data 

protection and access to information legislation, for example Freedom of 

Information and Environmental Information legislation. 

 

Income and Expenditure: 

 

D.4 It is the responsibility of Directors to ensure that where a scheme of delegation has 

been established within their area, it is operating effectively.  The scheme of delegation 

should identify staff authorised to act on the Director’s behalf in respect of payments, 

income collection and placing orders together with the limits of their authority. 

 

Income: 

 

D.5 Directors are responsible for reviewing and implementing changes to all fees and 

charges within their services on an annual basis.  It is preferable to obtain income in 

advance of supplying goods or services as this improves the Council’s cash flow and 

also avoids the time and cost of administrating and collecting debts. 

 

D.6 Any proposed new or variation to an existing fee or charge, which involves a policy 

change, requires the approval of the Council.   

 

D.7 In order to comply with Money Laundering Regulations 2017, the Council will not 

accept cash income for the purchase of goods if it exceeds £5,000. Further details of 

the council’s Money laundering Policy can be found in the Finance Manual. 

 

D.8 The Chief Financial Officer shall issue guidance on the write off of debtor accounts.  

Periodically, a report of the cumulative amount must be made to the appropriate 

Scrutiny Committee.  An annual report should be made to the relevant Scrutiny 

Committee on the management of debtor accounts.  Significant individual debts will be 

referred to Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member for approval.  

 

Page 48



Expenditure: 

 

D.9 All payments made on behalf of the Council, with the exception of payments from 

imprest accounts, will be made by the Chief Financial Officer relying, where necessary, 

on the certification of authorised employees.   

 

D.10 All orders for works, supplies and services shall comply with the Council’s Contract 

Standing Orders.  Procedures covering orders/contracts under £50,000 are detailed in 

the Finance Manual. 

 

D.11 The Chief Financial Officer will authorise such imprest accounts that they consider 

appropriate to allow authorised employees to defray petty cash and similar expenses.  

 

Payments to Employees and Members: 

 

D.12 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for all payments of salaries and wages to all 

staff, including payments for overtime and for payment of allowances to Members.  

 

Taxation: 

 

D.13 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for advising Directors, in the light of guidance 

issued by appropriate bodies and relevant legislation as it applies, on all taxation 

issues that affect the Authority. 

 

D.14 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for maintaining the Authority’s tax records, 

making all tax payments, receiving tax credits and submitting tax returns by their due 

date as appropriate. 

 

Trading Accounts/Business Units: 

 

D.15 It is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer to advise on the establishment and 

operation of trading accounts and business units.  

Page 49



FINANCE PROCEDURE RULE E: EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 

 

Partnerships: 

 

E.1 The Chief Financial Officer must ensure that accounting arrangements adopted relating 

to partnerships and joint ventures are satisfactory and that the overall corporate 

governance arrangements are satisfactory when contracts are arranged with external 

bodies.  They must also consider the overall corporate governance arrangements and 

legal issues when arranging contracts with external bodies. The Chief Financial Officer 

must ensure that the risks have been fully appraised before agreements are entered 

into with external bodies. 

 

E.2 The Monitoring Officer must also consider the overall corporate governance 

arrangements and legal issues when arranging contracts with external bodies. 

 

E.3 Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate risk assessments are 

undertaken and approvals are obtained before any negotiations are concluded relating 

to work with external bodies and that all agreements and arrangements are properly 

documented, including details of the County Council’s financial and physical 

commitment to the arrangements which are to be in accordance with the Council’s 

procedures. 

 

External Funding: 

 

E.4 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring that all funding notified by 

external bodies is received and properly recorded in the Authority’s accounts.   

 

 

Grants to outside Bodies: 

 

E.5 Directors are authorised to approve grants and annual assistance to external bodies, 

subject to the scheme of delegation, rules concerning key decisions and other 

requirements of the Finance Procedure Rules and related guidance and this approval 

being formally recorded. Grants to Academies and Voluntary Aided Schools follow 

different rules.  

 

E.6     Where the Council is using grant monies itself or passing it on to a third party, the 

application of that money shall be subject to the requirements of the relevant grant funding 
body. 
 
E.7  In considering the award of a grant, Directors shall have regard to the law on state 

aid/subsidy control and best value.  
 

Page 50



E.8 Before entering into any arrangement where the Council takes on accountable body 

status, appropriate advice must be sought from the Assistant Director of Finance, Assistant 
Director of Strategic Procurement and the Assistant Director of Legal Services. 
 

 

Page 51



FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES 

 

CONTENTS  Paragraph  
   

General Introduction   2.1  
Part A: Financial Management  

  Virement and Year end Balances          A.1 
  Accounting Policies        A.3 
  Accounting Procedures and Records         A.4 
  Annual Statement        A.5 
Part B: Financial Planning  

  Budget Approval        B.1 
  Budget Preparation        B.4 
  Budget Monitoring and Control      B.7 
  Capital Programme                                                                                    B.13 
 Treatment of year end Under Spend      B.19 
Part C: Risk Management and Control of Resources  

  Risk Management        C.1 
  Audit and Internal Control       C.5 
  Preventing Fraud and Corruption      C.9 
  Security of Assets        C.10 
  Banking and Treasury Management      C.12 
Part D: Systems and Procedures  

  General         D.1 
  Income         D.5 
  Expenditure          D.8 
  Payments to Employees and Members     D.11 
  Taxation         D.12 
  Trading Accounts        D.14 

Part E: External arrangements 
 Partnerships         E.1 
 External Funding        E.4 
 Grants to Outside Bodies                                                                    E.5 
 

 

DEFINITIONS 

 

1.1 The Chief Financial Officer /S151 Officer is that person designated for the purpose of 

Section 151 Local Government Act 1972 and Section 114 Local Government Finance 

Act 1992. 

 

1.2 Budget Heads are those cost and income headings recorded in the Council’s Budget 

Book. 

 

1.3 Advice and guidance issued by the Chief Financial Officer includes the Finance Manual, 

which provide detailed guidance on financial control, audit, accountancy, financial 

management matters and the design and use of controlled stationery.  

 

Deleted: FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

Deleted: General Introduction¶
¶
A: Financial management¶
¶
B: Financial planning¶
¶
C: Risk management and control of 
resources¶
¶
D: Systems and procedures¶
¶
E: External arrangements¶

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered
+ Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3,
… + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Indent at:  1.27
cm

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered
+ Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3,
… + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Indent at:  1.27
cm

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered
+ Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3,
… + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Indent at:  1.27
cm

Deleted: Financial or Accounting 
Instructions

Page 52



1.4 A Service is defined as a discrete area of the County Council’s activity managed by a 

Director or Head of Service as defined in Part 5 of the Constitution.  

 

1.5 A Scheme in the context of the capital programme may be a single scheme or a 

package of smaller schemes being carried out in a defined geographical area of works of 

a similar type.   

 

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered
+ Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3,
… + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Indent at:  1.27
cm

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered
+ Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3,
… + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Indent at:  1.27
cm

Page 53



GENERAL INTRODUCTION 

 

2.1  These Finance Procedure Rules are that part of the Constitution approved by the 

Council, which provide the framework for managing the Authority’s financial affairs.  

They apply to every Member and Officer of the Authority and anyone acting on its behalf 

with the exception of Schools to which Schools’ Finance Procedure Rules apply. 

 

2.2  The Constitution and Scheme of Delegation identify the financial responsibilities 

of the full Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny Members, the Head of Paid Service, the 

Monitoring Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and other Directors. 

 

2.3  All Members and staff have a general responsibility for taking reasonable action 

to provide for the security of the assets under their control and for ensuring that the use 

of these resources is legal, is properly authorised, provides value for money and 

achieves best value.  

 

2.4  The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for maintaining a continuous review of 

the Finance Procedure Rules and submitting any additions or changes necessary to full 

Council for approval following consideration by the Cabinet or Leader of the Council or 

Cabinet Members and Audit and Governance Committee. 

 

2.5  Directors are responsible for ensuring that all staff in their departments are aware 

of the existence and content of the Authority’s Finance Procedure Rules and other 

internal regulatory documents (including the Finance Manual) and that they comply with 

them.  

 

2.6  The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for issuing advice and guidance (e.g. 

the Finance Manual) to underpin the Finance Procedure Rules that Members, Officers 

and others acting on behalf of the Authority are required to follow. 

 

 

INANCE PROCEDURE RULE A: FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the running of the 

Authority, including the Policy Framework and budget. 

 

Actions that are “contrary to the budget” include: 

 

  Initiating a new policy; 

  Committing expenditure in future years to above the budget level; 

  Incurring interdepartmental transfers above virement limits; 

Deleted: (a)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered
+ Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3,
… + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Indent at:  1.27
cm

Deleted: Financial Regulations

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Deleted: Financial Regulations

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Deleted: (b)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered
+ Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3,
… + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Indent at:  1.27
cm

Deleted: (c)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered
+ Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3,
… + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Indent at:  1.27
cm

Deleted: (d)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered
+ Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3,
… + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Indent at:  1.27
cm

Deleted: financial regulations

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Deleted: (e)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted ...

Deleted: financial regulations

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Deleted: Accounting Instructions

Deleted: (f)

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted ...

Deleted: Accounting Instructions

Deleted: financial regulations

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Deleted: FINANCIAL REGULATION

Page 54



  Causing the total expenditure financed from Council Tax, grants and 

corporately held reserves to increase beyond the budgeted level. 

 

Virement and year end balances: 

 

A.1 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the administration of the scheme of 

virement as set out below: 

 

 The Cabinet, Leader of the Council and Cabinet Members are responsible for taking in-

year decisions on resources and priorities and can therefore approve virement between 

services provided: 

 

  It does not involve a new policy or policy change;  

  It does not involve an increasing commitment in future years that cannot 

be contained within existing approved budget allocations. 

 

Directors may effect virement between Budget Heads provided: 

 

  It does not involve a transfer of resources between services (Note: A 

service is defined by reference to a particular Budget Head in the Budget 

Book); 

  It does not involve a new policy or policy change; 

  It does not involve an increasing commitment in future years that cannot 

be contained within existing approved budget allocations;  

  That the Chief Financial Officer is notified in respect of all virements over 

£50,000. 

 

A.2 Unless otherwise determined by the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet 

Member any service under-spending or overspending will be carried forward to the 

following financial year and the approved budget adjusted accordingly.  

 

Accounting policies: 

 

A.3 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for selecting accounting policies and 

ensuring that they are applied consistently. 

 

Accounting procedures and records: 

 

A.4 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for determining the accounting procedures 

and records for the Authority.  

 

A.5 The Chief Financial Officer can choose to delegate day-to-day responsibilities to an 

appropriate representative(s). Where this is the case the delegation and officer responsibilities 

must be clearly documented and be kept under regular review by the Chief Financial Officer. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm, First
line:  0 cm

Page 55



 

 

The annual statement of accounts: 

 

A.6 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring that the annual statement of 

accounts is prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement of Recommended Practice 

(CIPFA/LASAAC).  The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for approving 

the annual statement of accounts.  

 

Deleted: 5

Page 56



FINANCE PROCEDURE RULE B: FINANCIAL PLANNING 

 

B.1 The full Council is also responsible for approving procedures for agreeing variations to 

approved budgets, plans and strategies forming the Policy Framework and for 

determining the circumstances in which a decision will be deemed to be contrary to the 

Policy Framework or budget.  Decisions that appear contrary to the Policy Framework 

or budget should be referred to the full Council by the Monitoring Officer.   

 

B.2 The full Council is responsible for setting the level at which the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council or a Cabinet Member may reallocate budget funds from one service to another.  

The Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member is responsible for taking in-

year decisions on resources and priorities in order to deliver the budget Policy 

Framework within the financial limits set by the full Council.  

 

BUDGETING 

 

Budget: 

 

B.3 The resource allocation, budget process and general format of the budget will be 

proposed by the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member on the advice of 

the Chief Financial Officer. 

 

Budget preparation: 

 

B.4 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring that an annual revenue budget, 

capital programme and medium term financial strategy is prepared for consideration by 

the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member before submission to the full 

Council.  The full Council may amend the budget or ask the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council or a Cabinet Member to reconsider it before approving it.   

 

B.5 The Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member is responsible for issuing 

guidance on the general content of the budget in consultation with the Chief Financial 

Officer as soon as possible following approval by the full Council.   

 

B.6 It is the responsibility of Directors to ensure that budget estimates reflecting agreed 

service plans are submitted to the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member 

and that these estimates are prepared in line with guidance issued by the Chief 

Financial Officer and/or Cabinet.  

 

Budget monitoring and control: 

 

B.7 Subject to these Regulations, Directors have the authority to incur expenditure 

provided in the revenue budget or capital programme approved by the full Council. 

 

Deleted: FINANCIAL REGULATION

Page 57



B.8 Expenditure may not be incurred if it is contrary or not wholly in accordance with the 

Policy Framework or budget.  

 

B.9 Directors must undertake regular monitoring of revenue and capital expenditure and, 

subject to these Regulations, where there is an overspending, investigate and take 

appropriate action to bring spending back into line with the budget.  

 

B.10 Executive Directors have overall budget responsibility and can delegate the day-to-day 

management to Budget Managers and Budget Holders as appropriate for their service.  

 

B.11 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for providing advice to Directors to enable 

budgets to be monitored effectively.  The Chief Financial Officer must report to the 

Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member and Scrutiny on the overall 

financial position on a regular basis.  

 

B.12 It is the responsibility of Directors to control income and expenditure within their area 

and to monitor performance, taking account of advice provided by the Chief Financial 

Officer.  They should report to Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member and 

Scrutiny on variances in both capital and revenue spending within their own areas, take 

action where necessary to avoid exceeding their budget allocation and alert the Chief 

Financial Officer to any problems. 

 

Resource allocation: 

 

B.13 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for developing and maintaining a resource 

allocation process that ensures due consideration of the Council’s Policy Framework.  

 

The Capital Programme: 

 

B.14 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring that a capital programme is 

prepared on an annual basis for consideration by the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or 

a Cabinet Member before submission to the full Council.  No scheme shall be included 

in the capital programme unless it has been through the appraisal and prioritisation 

process approved by the Cabinet. The following are exceptions to this process which 

would need Council agreement: 

 

  Initiating a new policy; 

  Committing capital expenditure in the current or future years to a level 

above the approved budget levels; 

  Transferring resources between revenue and capital budgets except as 

Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay (RCCO). .  

 

Deleted: Strategic

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Deleted: 0

Deleted: 11

Deleted: 12

Deleted: 13

Deleted: agreed

Deleted: , 

Deleted: Leader of the Council or a 
Cabinet Member.  In this context, 
contrary to the budget, may be 
through:

Deleted: cabinet

Deleted: provided in the 
scheme of virement; ¶

Deleted: Entering a capital 
commitment if it involves a 
material change to the nature of 
the project as set out in the 
agreed project appraisal

Page 58



B.15 Directors are responsible for ensuring that variations in capital project costs that occur 

during the course of a contract are contained within the resources allocated to that 

service.  

 

B.16 No lease, hire, rental or similar agreement that may involve a charge against the 

County Council’s approved borrowing or credit limit may be entered into without advice 

from the Chief Financial Officer. 

 

Guidelines: 

 

B.17 Guidelines on budget preparation are issued to Members and Directors by the Cabinet, 

Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member following agreement with the Chief 

Financial Officer.  The guidelines will take account of: 

 

  Legal requirements; 

  Medium-term planning prospects; 

  The corporate strategy; 

  Available resources; 

  Spending pressures; 

  Best value and other relevant government guidelines; 

  Other internal policy documents;  

  Cross-cutting issues (where relevant). 

 

Maintenance of reserves and balances: 

 

B.18 It is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer to advise the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council or a Cabinet Member and/or the full Council on prudent levels of reserves and 

balances for the Authority. 

 

Treatment of Year-end Under/Overspends: 

 

B.19     Any underspend at the finance year-end on a service area’s revenue budget will not be 

carried forward to the following financial year but will be transferred to General Reserves 

unless approved as detailed below. 

 

B.20     The Chief Financial Officer may approve a budget carry forward of a ring-fenced grant 

or where a grant has conditions or expectations attached, where the related expenditure 

is not expected to be incurred in the current financial year. Cabinet will approve all other 

budget carry forward requests through the outturn report, taking advice from the Chief 

Financial Officer. 

Deleted: 4

Deleted: estimates

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 6

Deleted: 7

Formatted: Font: Trebuchet MS, 11
pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Trebuchet MS, 11 pt

Page 59



FINANCE PROCEDURE RULE C: RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES 

 

Risk Management 

 

C.1 Directors are responsible for ensuring the development and monitoring of effective and 

comprehensive systems for identifying, evaluating and controlling significant business 

risks in their directorates. 

 

C.2 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the development, monitoring and review 

of the Council’s risk management policy statement and strategy, which is approved by 

Cabinet and for reviewing the effectiveness of risk management.  The Chief Financial 

Officer is also the Council’s principal risk management adviser and co-ordinator. 

 

C.3 The Chief Financial Officer will assess the Council’s overall insurance requirements 

and will be responsible for arranging all insurance cover.  The Chief Financial Officer 

will review insurance cover on an annual basis and will consult with Directors prior to 

arranging cover where appropriate. Directors are responsible for providing timely and 

accurate information to the Chief Financial Officer in relation to any insurance claims. 

 

C.4 Each Director shall be responsible for identifying, assessing and controlling risks within 

their directorate taking into account any advice that the Chief Financial Officer may 

have issued. 

 

Audit and Internal Control Requirements: 

 

C.5 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for advising on effective systems of internal 

control. 

 

C.6 The Council has determined that the Chief Financial Officer is responsible for 

conducting a continuous internal audit in accordance with the Accounts and Audit 

(England) Regulations 2011. 

 

C.7 Directors are expected to co-operate and supply information lawfully required to 

external auditors and to other external agencies undertaking audit, investigation or 

inspection such as HMRC. Directors are also expected to co-operate and supply 

information reasonably required to internal auditors.   

 

C.8 The Chief Financial Officer and the Monitoring Officer must be notified immediately of 

all instances of financial irregularity. 

 

Preventing Fraud and Corruption: 

 

C.9 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the development and maintenance of an 

anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy.  

Deleted: FINANCIAL REGULATION

Deleted:  (

Deleted:  Executive 

Deleted: Director of Corporate 
Resources)

Page 60



 

Security of Assets 

 

C.10 Directors should ensure that records and assets (including stocks and stores) are 

properly maintained and securely held.  They should also ensure that contingency 

plans for the security of assets and continuity of service in the event of disaster or 

system failure are in place.  

 

C.11 Directors must maintain an inventory of furniture,equipment and stock/stores and check 

at least annually that all items are accounted for.  Directors may write off inventory 

items with a value up to £5,000.  Write off of items with a value above this limit require 

the approval of the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member.  

 

Banking and Treasury Management: 

 

C.12 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for arranging the Council’s banking 

arrangements including opening and closing of all accounts.  

 

C.13 All electronic transfers of funds will only be made by the Chief Financial Officer or their 

nominated signatory.  

 

C.14 All other payments made by the Council, with the exception of those made from 

imprest accounts, will be made by electronic transfer or other payment instrument, 

bearing the manuscript or facsimile signature of the Chief Financial Officer or their 

nominee.   

 

C.15 The Authority has adopted CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 

Public Services.  Under the Code the following four clauses are adopted: 

 

1. The Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury 

management: 

 

 a treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and 

approach to risk management of its treasury management activities 

 suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in which 

the organisation will seek to achieve those policies and objectives and 

prescribing how it will manage and control those activities 

 

The content of the policy statement and TMPs will follow the recommendations 

contained in Sections 6 and 7 of the Code, subject only to amendment where 

necessary to reflect the particular circumstances of this organisation.  Such 

amendments will not result in the organisation materially deviating from the 

Code’s key principles. 

 

Deleted:  and 

Deleted: cheque 

Page 61



2. The Council’s Audit and Governance Committee will receive reports on its 

treasury management policies, practices and activities, including, as a minimum, 

an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a mid-year review and an 

annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in its TMPs. 

 

3. The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular 

monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices to the Audit and 

Governance Committee and for the execution and administration of treasury 

management decisions to the Chief Financial Officer, who will act in accordance 

with the organisation’s policy statement and TMPs and, if they are a CIPFA 

member, CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 

 

4. The Council nominates the Audit and Governance Committee to be responsible 

for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. 

 

C.16 The Council is responsible for approving the Treasury Management Policy Statement 

as required by CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Public Services.  

The policy statement is proposed to the full Council by the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council or a Cabinet Member.  The Chief Financial Officer has delegated responsibility 

for implementing and monitoring the statement. 

 

C.17 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for reporting to the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council or a Cabinet Member a proposed treasury management strategy for the 

coming financial year at or before the start of each financial year.  

 

C.18 All executive decisions on borrowing, investment or financing shall be delegated to the 

Chief Financial Officer, who is required to act in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of 

Practice for Treasury Management in Public Services.  

 

 

Page 62



FINANCE PROCEDURE RULE D: SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 

 

General: 

 

D.1 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the operation of the Authority’s accounting 

systems, the form of accounts and the supporting financial records.  Any changes 

made by Directors to the existing financial systems or the establishment of new 

systems must be approved by the Chief Financial Officer.  However, Directors are 

responsible for the proper operation of financial processes in their own departments.  

 

D.2 Changes to agreed procedures proposed by Directors to meet their own specific 

service needs must be agreed with the Chief Financial Officer.  

 

D.3 Directors must ensure that staff are aware of their responsibilities under data 

protection and access to information legislation, for example Freedom of 

Information and Environmental Information legislation. 

 

Income and Expenditure: 

 

D.4 It is the responsibility of Directors to ensure that where a scheme of delegation has 

been established within their area, it is operating effectively.  The scheme of delegation 

should identify staff authorised to act on the Director’s behalf in respect of payments, 

income collection and placing orders together with the limits of their authority. 

 

Income: 

 

D.5 Directors are responsible for reviewing and implementing changes to all fees and 

charges within their services on an annual basis.  It is preferable to obtain income in 

advance of supplying goods or services as this improves the Council’s cash flow and 

also avoids the time and cost of administrating and collecting debts. 

 

D.6 Any proposed new or variation to an existing fee or charge, which involves a policy 

change, requires the approval of the Council.   

 

D.7 In order to comply with Money Laundering Regulations 2017, the Council will not 

accept cash income for the purchase of goods if it exceeds £5,000. Further details of 

the council’s Money laundering Policy can be found in the Finance Manual. 

 

D.8 The Chief Financial Officer shall issue guidance on the write off of debtor accounts.  

Periodically, a report of the cumulative amount must be made to the appropriate 

Scrutiny Committee.  An annual report should be made to the relevant Scrutiny 

Committee on the management of debtor accounts.  Significant individual debts will be 

referred to Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member for approval.  

 

Deleted: FINANCIAL REGULATION

Deleted: Directors must ensure 
that, where appropriate, computer 
and other systems are registered in 
accordance with data protection 
legislation.   Directors must ensure 
that staff are aware of their 
responsibilities under freedom of 
information legislation. 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Deleted: 7

Page 63



Expenditure: 

 

D.9 All payments made on behalf of the Council, with the exception of payments from 

imprest accounts, will be made by the Chief Financial Officer relying, where necessary, 

on the certification of authorised employees.   

 

D.10 All orders for works, supplies and services shall comply with the Council’s Contract 

Standing Orders.  Procedures covering orders/contracts under £50,000 are detailed in 

the Finance Manual. 

 

D.11 The Chief Financial Officer will authorise such imprest accounts that they consider 

appropriate to allow authorised employees to defray petty cash and similar expenses.  

 

Payments to Employees and Members: 

 

D.12 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for all payments of salaries and wages to all 

staff, including payments for overtime and for payment of allowances to Members.  

 

Taxation: 

 

D.13 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for advising Directors, in the light of guidance 

issued by appropriate bodies and relevant legislation as it applies, on all taxation 

issues that affect the Authority. 

 

D.14 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for maintaining the Authority’s tax records, 

making all tax payments, receiving tax credits and submitting tax returns by their due 

date as appropriate. 

 

Trading Accounts/Business Units: 

 

D.15 It is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer to advise on the establishment and 

operation of trading accounts and business units.  

Deleted: 8

Deleted: 9

Deleted: Part 4 of Accounting 
Instruction No. 1.

Deleted: 0

Deleted: 1

Deleted: 2

Deleted: 3

Deleted: 4

Page 64



FINANCE PROCEDURE RULE E: EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 

 

Partnerships: 

 

E.1 The Chief Financial Officer must ensure that accounting arrangements adopted relating 

to partnerships and joint ventures are satisfactory and that the overall corporate 

governance arrangements are satisfactory when contracts are arranged with external 

bodies.  They must also consider the overall corporate governance arrangements and 

legal issues when arranging contracts with external bodies. The Chief Financial Officer 

must ensure that the risks have been fully appraised before agreements are entered 

into with external bodies. 

 

E.2 The Monitoring Officer must also consider the overall corporate governance 

arrangements and legal issues when arranging contracts with external bodies. 

 

E.3 Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate risk assessments are 

undertaken and approvals are obtained before any negotiations are concluded relating 

to work with external bodies and that all agreements and arrangements are properly 

documented, including details of the County Council’s financial and physical 

commitment to the arrangements which are to be in accordance with the Council’s 

procedures. 

 

External Funding: 

 

E.4 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring that all funding notified by 

external bodies is received and properly recorded in the Authority’s accounts.   

 

 

Grants to outside Bodies: 

 

E.5 Directors are authorised to approve grants and annual assistance to external bodies, 

subject to the scheme of delegation, rules concerning key decisions and other 

requirements of the Finance Procedure Rules and related guidance and this approval 

being formally recorded. Grants to Academies and Voluntary Aided Schools follow 

different rules.  

 

E.6     Where the Council is using grant monies itself or passing it on to a third party, the 

application of that money shall be subject to the requirements of the relevant grant funding 
body. 
 
E.7  In considering the award of a grant, Directors shall have regard to the law on state 

aid/subsidy control and best value.  
 

Deleted: FINANCIAL REGULATION

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Deleted: key decision rules

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Deleted: a

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Not Highlight

Page 65



E.8 Before entering into any arrangement where the Council takes on accountable body 

status, appropriate advice must be sought from the Assistant Director of Finance, Assistant 
Director of Strategic Procurement and the Assistant Director of Legal Services. 
 

 

Page 66


	Agenda
	4 Contract procedure rules
	Constitution Committee 181121
	Interim Contract Procedure Rules (ICPRs )V1.9 2021.09.29
	Contract Standing Orders 2015 with Updated Changes 29 Sept 2021

	5 Finance procedure rules
	Finance procedure rules covering report 181121
	Finance procedure rules - clean version 181121
	Finance procedure rules - tracked changes 181121


